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Introduction
When the NHS West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) formed in
2013, we brought together members
who had a shared vision to deliver
high quality, fully joined up health care
services. Added to this was the ethos
of asking people what they needed to
see in their services.

Dr Christopher
Browning
Chair, NHS West
Suffolk CCG

This annual report and accounts marks and
records our second year where we have
built on our first year. We have seen major
improvements to stroke services, cancer
care and mental health provision. We have
focused on services for children and young
people, investing in eating disorders,
autism, asthma and epilepsy services.
In October 2014, NHS England published
its Five Year Forward View, in which it
sets out how the health service needs to
change going forward, arguing for a more
engaged relationship with patients, carers
and the public to promote health and
wellbeing and prevent ill-health. It sets out
the vision for the NHS of the future and
the steps that need to be taken to ensure a
sustainable health service which continues
to provide comprehensive and high quality
care for all.
The case for change in our own health and
care system is strong and we are already
taking action to meet this challenge for
change, and to develop a health and care
system that works well for people. It will
be a system that supports people to lead
healthy and independent lives, but when
they do need help, it provides this swiftly
and effectively, with a view to getting them
back to their own lives, in their own homes
with access to the people and activities
that they enjoy. It will be a system that
seeks to prevent health and care needs,
not simply to treat them when they arise. It
will be a system that puts people in charge
of their own health and care plans, and
takes account of what matters to people.

We have made it our priority to listen to
our member practices and the people we
serve, and have used these comments
to help set our priorities. We are already
developing ways of more integrated
working in west Suffolk so that:
• People can manage their own health
and social care with the right support
when needed.
• Communities are easy and supportive
places to live with a health or care need.
• There is a health and care system that is
co-ordinated and effective.
• Higher cost interventions are replaced
with those that are equally effective and
cost less.
We have invested in new services for the
people of west Suffolk. An example of this
was the opening of the new community
health centre for people in Sudbury and its
surrounding areas.
We have worked to spend money wisely,
making changes where needed and
investing in plans, shaped by the public,
our partners and clinicians. As well as
helping to deliver improved services, this
has ensured we remained within our
£280.8m budget.
We have successfully delivered the majority
of the patients’ rights as set out in the NHS
Constitution, including:
• Maximum of 18 weeks from referral to
treatment.
• Cancer waiting times for referral and
treatment.
• Waiting times for access to
psychological therapies and treatment.
I am very proud of our work so far. We, as
a Governing Body, are keen to do better
and want to continue to deliver the best
possible care in the future. Although there
will be challenges ahead, we will face
them with integrity and build on the solid
foundations we have already put in place
as we continue to drive through further
improvements for the people we serve.
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Member Practices’ Introduction
The CCG is pleased to present this
report which reflects on the significant
progress we have made in addressing
the health priorities of the local
community, whilst delivering financial
balance and meeting most of the
performance targets set out within the
NHS Constitution.
The CCG has developed its own distinctive
ambition and underpinning priorities which
will provide a local approach for delivery of
the Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
At the heart of this ambition is the view
that more joined up working with our
partners and communities is the primary
way to improve the quality of those
services locally. Supporting delivery of the
CCG’s ambition are six clinical priorities,
which have been aligned to both national
and local frameworks:
1. Develop clinical leadership.
2. Demonstrate excellence in patient
experience and patient engagement.
3. Improve the health and care of older
people.
4. Improve access to mental health
services.
5. Improve health and wellbeing through
partnership working.
6. Deliver financial sustainability through
quality improvement.
The strategic report sets out how these
priorities have supported delivery of the
highest quality of health services in west
Suffolk through our work with patients
and stakeholders. During the year, we have
worked hard to engage with our local
patients, listening to their feedback and
responding to their healthcare needs.
The strategic report details how the
CCG has responded to patients in the
“You Said…We Did”, whilst also setting
out the delivery of the key financial and
performance targets.
We have made significant progress locally
in delivering our vision of a sustainable
health service which continues to provide
comprehensive and high quality care for
all and we have established a determined
leadership to build a system that works
for our customers and patients, and is
financially sustainable into the longer term.

Organisations in west Suffolk are already
committed to creating an integrated
health and care system that supports our
population to keep well and to remain
living independently with a good quality
of life for as long as possible. All partners
aim to deliver high quality services, which
are centred on people. They agree that
the only way to do this effectively is to
work together to remove barriers and
costs, and ensure that we spend as much
as possible of our budgets on the direct
provision of care. By doing so, it will
help us to manage the increasing levels
of demand on health and social care
services, as well as give us the ability to
use our funding more effectively.
The CCG recognises that primary care
plays a critical role in the prevention
of ill health and the management of
people with long term conditions. The
CCG places primary care at the very
heart of its joint plan to support people
at home through the implementation
of risk stratification, integrated
community teams, case management
and care coordination. The CCG has been
approved to jointly commission primary
care services, and will be working with
NHS England on the local Implementation
of the new arrangements from April
2015.
The CCG will also be enhancing the joint
commissioning arrangements with local
government.
During 2014/15, we started the process
of system reform and redesign in the way
the local health and social care systems
work. This was initially in Sudbury through
the “Connect Sudbury” programme of
work where the concepts and practical
applications of a new health and care
model will be tested in that town and
its surrounding areas, and used as an
opportunity to further understand the key
components of building a more cohesive
health and care system with crossorganisational working.
This work will continue into 2015/16 and
beyond, as we further progress delivery
of a sustainable health service which
continues to provide comprehensive and
high quality care for local people.
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Strategic Report
Legislative requirements
We are responsible for discharging
a range of duties on behalf of
patients in line with the NHS Act
2006. This includes:
• Involving patients and the public
in shaping health services.
• Improving the quality of services
we commission.
• Reducing health inequalities.
We act effectively and
economically by delegating
responsibility for making decisions
to our Governing Body, with
lead responsibility from the Chief
Officer. The Audit Committee
monitors the controls in place
to ensure we provide value for
money. We certify that NHS West
Suffolk Clinical Commissioning
Group has complied with the
statutory duties laid down in the
National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended).

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer
West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group
20 May 2015

Our history
The way in which healthcare
services are run changed
significantly as a result of the
Health and Social Care Act 2012.
Primary Care Trusts ceased to
exist, with the majority of their
responsibilities taken over by
CCGs.
In west Suffolk, GPs chose to
form a CCG that would embrace
commissioning from the acute,
mental health and community
sector. From the 25 member GP
practices, eight GPs were elected
to sit on the CCG’s Governing
Body. We also have two practice
managers and a lay member each
for governance and patient and
public engagement.
The Clinical Commissioning Group
was licensed from 1 April 2013
under provisions enacted in the
Health & Social Care Act 2012,
which amended the National
Health Service Act 2006.
As at 1 April 2014, the Clinical
Commissioning Group was
licensed without conditions.
The Clinical Commissioning
Groups’ Annual Report is prepared
under Directions by the National

Health Service Commissioning
Board in exercise of powers
conferred on it by the National
Health Service Act 2006.
It now buys, manages and pays for
health services such as emergency
hospital care, rehabilitation, most
community healthcare, mental
health and learning disability
services for the people of west
Suffolk.
Our Constitution
A legal document, called a
Constitution, sets out the
arrangements the CCG has made
to ensure it meets its responsibilities
for commissioning high quality
health care for the people of west
Suffolk.
It describes the governing
principles, rules and procedures
which will ensure integrity, honesty
and accountability in the CCG’s day
to day running. Also, it commits
the CCG to making decisions in
an open and transparent way and
places the interests of patients and
public at its heart.
Our Constitution can be
downloaded at:
www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/
about-us/our-constitution/
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The population we serve
The CCG provides healthcare
services for around 240,000
people in west Suffolk. In 2015/16
it will spend around £280m
on commissioning healthcare
services for these people. The
CCG’s population is registered
with 25 west Suffolk practices
and is predominantly rural
with the population scattered
in small towns and villages.
Geographically, the area includes
the whole of Forest Heath and
St. Edmundsbury local authority
districts and part of Mid Suffolk
and Babergh districts.
The town of Bury St. Edmunds
(43,000 residents) is at the centre
of the area, which also includes
the small towns of Haverhill
(27,000), Mildenhall (14,000) and
Newmarket (20,000) in the west,
Brandon (9,000) in the north and
Sudbury (22,000) in the south-east
(based on 2011 Census Built Up
Area data).
Several main roads, including the
A14, A11, A134 and A143, cross
the area, as does the railway line
from Ipswich to Cambridge, with
stations at Bury St Edmunds and
Newmarket and the villages in
between. The United States Air
Force also has large airbases at
Lakenheath and Mildenhall.
16% of the CCG’s registered
population are under age 15
(England average 17.2%) and
9.5% are aged 75 or over (England
average 7.8%).
The overall population of west
Suffolk is projected to increase
by over 7% between 2014 and
2024, with nearly a 40% increase
in people aged over 70 years
old. Between 2001 and 2011
the absolute numbers of children
in the 5-7, 8-9 and 10-14 age
bands actually fell across Suffolk
as a whole. The numbers of older
teenagers rose slightly, whilst there
was a relatively sharp increase of

9.7% in the number of children
aged 0-4.
West Suffolk has similar levels
of deprivation to Suffolk overall.
The areas of highest deprivation
are located in parts of the towns,
including areas within Bury St
Edmunds, Brandon, Mildenhall,
Newmarket, Haverhill and
Sudbury as well as the more rural
areas which have relatively poor
geographical access to services.
42% of Suffolk residents live in
rural areas, and a great proportion
of the county population are
claiming incapacity or Department
of Work and Pension benefits, or
living with a limiting long term
illness.
Overall the population of west
Suffolk is generally healthy
with high life expectancy. Life
expectancy at birth for males was
80.6 years and females 84.1 years
in west Suffolk compared with
78.9 and 82.3 years respectively
for England. Life expectancy at
birth in 2008-2012 for both males
and females was higher than in
England as a whole by 1.7 and 1.3
years respectively. However, there
are significant health inequalities
with a 5.5 year gap for men and
a 4.3 year gap for women in life
expectancy between those living
in the most and the least deprived
areas.
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Our headquarters
In July 2014, the CCG relocated
to West Suffolk House in Bury St
Edmunds, meaning that we are
now co-located with colleagues
from Suffolk County Council and
St Edmundsbury Borough Council.
West Suffolk House is a purpose
built public sector office building
and is designed to integrate
staff from different organisations
under one roof. The building
provides flexible open plan office
space, along with conference
and meeting rooms, public access
areas, and a staff café, all of which
are shared by CCG and council
colleagues.
Our wider management
delivery team, made up of
contracting, quality and safety,
finance, corporate services and
communications, is shared with
neighbouring NHS Ipswich and
East Suffolk CCG and is based in
Bramford, near Ipswich. This team
delivers contracted services to both
CCG’s and is headed by a shared
Chief Officer. The hot desk facilities
available at West Suffolk House
means that the wider management
delivery team are able to work
even more closely with colleagues
based in Bury St Edmunds.
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Services that the CCG
commissions
We mainly commission services
from:
• West Suffolk NHS Hospital
Foundation Trust.
• Norfolk and Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust.
• Serco, which manages
community services Suffolk
Community Healthcare.
• Care UK.
• East of England Ambulance
Service NHS Trust.
• Papworth NHS Hospital.
• Suffolk County Council.
• Cambridgeshire University
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.
We also hold contracts with
around 200 organisations.
West Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust
West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
is the largest provider of services
to the CCG’s population. It delivers
emergency and planned specialist
health care from its hospital
site, which is set in a 19 hectare
parkland site on the edge of Bury
St Edmunds. It has around 430
beds open at any one time.
The hospital is responsible for
delivering many of the CCG’s
performance objectives and
is actively involved in service
redesign.

recent Care Quality Commission
(CQC) report.

East of England Ambulance
Service NHS Trust

Serco (Suffolk Community
Healthcare)

The ambulance service delivers
both emergency and non-urgent
patient transport services to the
CCG’s population. The CCG is
the co-ordinating commissioner
for the East of England and is
working with the service through
some challenging times in order
to improve response times and
quality.

Community services have
continued to progress changes
to their services to enable their
staff to spend more time with
patients. Suffolk Community
Healthcare works with the CCG
and other health and social care
partners to support and inform
the wider commissioning plans.
Community services play an
integral role in supporting the
CCG’s plans, caring for adults and
children in the community.
The CCG closely monitors the
contract and has worked over
the last year to improve access to
community equipment which had
been problematic.
Care UK

Norfolk and Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust delivers mental
health and learning disabilities
services for the populations of
Suffolk and Norfolk. The Trust
has worked closely with the CCG
in 2014/15 to embed the new
models of care described in the
Trust’s Service Strategy. The CCG is
working with Norfolk and Suffolk
NHS Foundation Trust to address
the deficiencies highlighted in the

Care UK provides out of hours
GP and 111 services to the
CCG’s population. Out of hours
GP services are performing well
and meet most of their key
performance indicators. 111
services will play a key role in
the CCG’s urgent care plans in
2015/16 and Care UK is actively
engaged in the System Resilience
Group.

The service is engaged in proposed
system wide reforms of urgent
care.
Suffolk County Council
The CCG works with other
commissioners such as
neighbouring CCGs and Suffolk
County Council to secure joined up
services for patients. With Suffolk
County Council the CCG jointly
commissions a range of children’s
services, mental health services
and services to ensure safe and
effective discharge from hospital.
Other providers
The CCG also commissions
services from Cambridge University
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
(Addenbrookes) and Ipswich
Hospital NHS Trust, the community
and voluntary sector, General
Practice, community providers,
other acute providers and the
independent sector.
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STRATEGIES
The Suffolk Health and Wellbeing
Board’s vision is that people in
Suffolk live healthier, happier lives
with a narrowing difference in life
expectancy between those living
in our most deprived communities
and those who are more affluent.
Care of the elderly is a key feature
of the vision, given the rising age
of the local population, as well as
improving people’s mental health
and wellbeing, giving children
the best start in life, and ensuring
Suffolk residents have access to
a healthy environment and take
responsibility for their own health
and wellbeing. The strategy for
delivering this vision is integrated
care.
The CCG is working with NHS
Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG to
develop a joint health and care
model that will deliver the Health
and Wellbeing Board vision and
create a health and care system
that delivers excellent services for
people in Suffolk which is effective
and sustainable.
Through its six clinical priorities,
the CCG is already committed
to creating and delivering an
integrated health and care system
that supports our population to
remain living independently with a
good quality of life for as long as
possible.
Working as part of the Suffolk
‘system’, including all our local
health services, care services,
district and borough councils,
Suffolk County Council (SCC), our
local GPs and our voluntary sector
and communities, the CCG will
provide determined leadership to
create a different system - one
that works for our customers and
patients, and that is financially
sustainable.
The CCG has worked hard to
engage with our local patients and
stakeholders and their feedback

has influenced our strategic and
operational planning.
Since November 2013, the CCG
and NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG have worked closely with
partners, in particular Suffolk
County Council (SCC) and
Healthwatch Suffolk, to engage
the wider Suffolk community on
the future of health and social care
services in Suffolk.
A review of the feedback, local
experience, national policy and
evidence has identified a number
of key themes which have been
progressed in the service redesign:
• The health and care system
should empower individuals to
take a more proactive role in
managing their care, including
the prevention of ill-health.
• From the individual’s perspective,
the system’s response must be
more integrated. Many patients
have complex needs which
require close operational cooperation between professionals
from different backgrounds,
organisations and the wider
community.
This includes improving the access
routes into the system. Professionals
in first contact with patients should
have the necessary knowledge of
both the individual’s history and
how to work closely with other
professionals and organisations to
provide the most integrated and
efficient response leading to best
outcomes.
• The emergency departments
of both hospitals are under
severe pressure, and the system
needs to ensure that their
expertise is focused on genuine
emergencies. This is especially
important given the national
shortage of emergency medicine
consultants acknowledged by
Health Education England in
their December 2013 report.
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These themes have been
incorporated into the system
design, and include the following
features:
• The major building blocks of the
new system will be Integrated
Neighbourhood Teams. Social
care, community health services
and some aspects of mental
health services will be organised
and delivered at neighbourhood
level, serving the population
of an average of four general
practices and mindful of natural
geographic factors. In particular,
there will an increased emphasis
on the teams managing their
populations in a systematic
way, using risk stratification
tools to identify individuals at
higher risk, and placing care
plans which are joint between
all relevant agencies. Some
individuals will be sufficiently
complex to require a case coordinator; the most appropriate
person for this role will depend
on the team’s view on which
professional is most appropriate
to that individual’s needs.
• Communication between
healthcare professionals will
be improved. One component
of this is commissioning an
NHS 111 service that goes
beyond the national minimum
requirements. In particular,
there will be a dedicated line
for professionals to access
a strengthened Directory of
Services (DoS) that will allow
them to link to partners;
for example, a paramedic
attending a patient who needs
care will be able to access
community alternatives to
hospital treatment. For patients
calling NHS 111, their service
experience will be improved by
stronger clinical support.
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• Services at West Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust will be
supported by primary care.
The Primary Care Foundation,
College of Emergency Medicine
and Royal College of General
Practitioners all agree that
a significant proportion of
patients present to accident
and emergency with a primary
care problem, in good faith that
they consider themselves to
have an urgent or emergency
problem. The national term
for this element is an Urgent
Care Centre, and it will help to
protect scarce emergency centre
expertise and there will be an
increased emphasis on moving
patients into the community
rather than hospital beds.
During 2014/15, significant
progress has been made in working
towards this system reform and
redesigning the way health and
social care systems work. This work
will continue into 2015/16 and
beyond.

Linkage between Health and
Wellbeing Strategy and CCG Clinical Priorities
Health and Wellbeing
Strategy

West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group

Vision:

Vision:

People in Suffolk live healthier,
happier lives. We also want to
narrow the differences in healthy
life expectancy between those
living in our most deprived
communities and those who
are more affluent through
greater improvements in more
disadvantaged communities.

The CCG, with strong clinical
leadership, will continue to
work closely in partnership with
other stakeholders, to ensure that
the significant changes to the way
that services are delivered continue
to provide value for money and
meet the needs of the local
population.

Priorities:

Priorities:

• Every child in Suffolk has the
best start in life.
• Suffolk residents have access
to a health environment and
take responsibility for their
own health and wellbeing.
• Older people in Suffolk have
a good quality of life.
• People in Suffolk have
opportunities to improve their
mental health and wellbeing.

• To develop clinical leadership.
• To demonstrate excellence in
patient experience and
patient engagement.
• To improve the health and care
of older people.
• To improve access to mental
health services.
• To improve health and
wellbeing through partnership
working.
• To deliver financial sustainability
through quality improvement.

Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy is available here:
http://www.suffolk.gov.uk/your-council/decision-making/committees/suffolkhealth-and-wellbeing-board
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Reducing Health Inequalities

The wider
determinants
of health

The lives
people lead

The health
services
people use

Major wider
determinants

Leading risk
factors

Accessibility and
responsiveness

Financial status

Tobacco

Employment and
work environment

High blood
pressure

Primary care
(e.g. GP practices)

Education

Alcohol

Housing

Cholesterol
Being overweight

Source: National Audit Office literature review

Health inequality can be defined as
differences in health status or in the
distribution of health determinants
between different population
groups. For example, differences
in mortality rates between people
from different socioeconomic
groups. Some health inequalities
are attributable to biological
variations or free choice and others
are attributable to the external
environment and conditions
mainly outside the control of the
individuals concerned.
The independent Acheson inquiry
(1999) into inequalities in health
highlighted the main determinants
and how to address them. The
CCG, working closely with health
and wellbeing partners, including
Public Health, have built on these
findings to support the groups of
people in west Suffolk that have
worse outcomes and experience
of care. This focused piece of
work is aimed at closing the
gap in inequalities by targeting
initiatives to groups with lower life
expectancies.

Secondary care
(e.g. hospital)
Preventative care
(measures taken to
prevent diseases)
Community
services

With our partners, the CCG is
working on the implementation of
the three most cost effective high
impact interventions recommended
by the National Audit Office report
on health inequalities:
• Increase the prescribing of drugs
to control blood pressure by 40
per cent.
• Increase the prescribing of drugs
to reduce cholesterol by 40 per
cent:
- Medicines management is
		 promoting NICE guidance
		 on the treatment of high
		 blood pressure and cholesterol.
- The control of blood pressure
		 and cholesterol levels are
		 included in QOF.
- Complex medication reviews
		 identify patients who are
		 not treated optimally in their
		 treatment of blood pressure
		and cholesterol.
- Anomalies in the treatment
		 of blood pressure and
		 raised cholesterol are flagged
		 by medicines management
		 technicians to GPs.
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• Double the capacity of smoking
cessation services:
- Reduce health inequalities
		 through working with NHS 		
England and Suffolk County
		 Council to address the major
		 factors contributing to
		 increased risk of vascular
		 disease by encouraging
		 practices with low levels
		 of level 2 smoking services to
		 increase their activity.
		 However it is recognised
		 that the historical model of
		 delivering stop smoking
		 service and “quit
		 measurement” has become
		 less effective as the smoking
		 population and environment
		have changed.
The numbers successfully quitting
by using NHS services has decreased
nationally. Many current smokers have
tried and failed to quit through current
services on more than one occasion
and the availability of e-cigarettes has
influenced smoking behaviour in some
people. The CCG will support the new
approach to smoking agreed by the
Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB)
focusing on prevention, protection and
cessation.
The CCG is also committed to
improving its approach to equality and
diversity linked to health inequalities,
and has set out four equality objectives:
• Patients and carers experience
joined-up healthcare, ensuring access
to the right services at the right time.
• The CCG will improve use of equality
data and information about west
Suffolk’s diverse population and
communities to inform its work.
• The CCG will improve the way
that the Governing Body and
Executive can learn from healthcare
experiences of diverse and
marginalised individuals, groups and
carers.
• Senior leaders and other managers
provide leadership, support and
motivation for their staff to uphold
the CCG’s value of equality of
opportunity to improve the health of
those most in need.
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QUALITY OF SERVICES
In its report ‘Quality in the new
health system - maintaining and
improving quality from April 2013’
the National Quality Board set out
its expectation that quality is the
‘organising principle of the NHS’
and that a ‘relentless focus on
quality means a relentless focus on
how we can positively transform
the lives of the people who use
and rely on our services’.
The CCG is responsible for meeting
the needs of its population through
the commissioning of high quality
services and ensuring patient
safety. As part of the whole health
and social care system the CCG
works to deliver these services.
The Health and Social Care Act
2012 requires that CCGs have a
duty to ‘exercise their functions
with a view to securing continuous
quality improvement in the quality
of services and the outcomes that
are achieved from this provision’. In
setting the bar high for quality the
CCG has worked with its providers
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to ensure that not only do they
deliver the essential standards
of quality and safety regulated
by the CQC, but they also strive
for excellence and innovation in
practice to drive up those standards
for patients and their families.
It is imperative that the CCG
ensures that early warning systems
both locally and in conjunction
with NHS England’s Quality
Surveillance Group are utilised
to detect the signs of a failing
service or provider organisation
or where patient safety is being
compromised. Early intervention
with stakeholders and partners
to prevent the major failings
highlighted by the Francis report
has been a priority for the CCG
and its systems, processes and
governance. The Government
response to the Francis report
‘Hard Truths: essential actions’
outlines its commitment to a duty
of candour to patients and families
where care failings occur and the
CCG promotes and monitors this
approach in its commissioned
services.

Patient Safety has also been
highlighted as of primary
importance by Professor Don
Berwick in his report ‘Improving
the safety of patients in England’
stating the NHS should “Place the
quality of patient care, especially
patient safety, above all other
aims”. The CCG has engaged with
the new patient safety collaborative
being set up by NHS England and
with the new systems for reporting
and learning from patient safety
incidents to prevent reoccurrence
and to drive improvements in
practice and service delivery. In
particular the culture of reporting
and learning is key to this, and the
CCG will continue to engage with
its providers to achieve this.
We put patients and the public
at the heart of our strategy and
decision making.

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15
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HOW PATIENTS AND THE PUBLIC SHAPE OUR HEALTH SERVICES

It is vital that we hear from the
people for whom we manage
services. Over three years we have
tried and tested methods to get
this feedback including:
• Our Community Engagement
Group - is a panel of people
who meet every two months in
towns around the area. On the
panel are representatives from
Healthwatch Suffolk and Suffolk
Congress Community Action
Suffolk. This group of volunteers
oversees the delivery of the
CCG’s community engagement
and our work to meet our duties
under the Equality Act 2010. This
group is a sub-committee of the
CCG’s Governing Body and also
links with partner organisation
engagement groups. It
communicates updates to our
Health Forum.
• Our Health Forum - is an
online forum that anyone can
sign up to, and gives regular
updates and asks for views on
our projects and those of our
partners. We currently have over
500 members.
• Our three CCG locality
groups - are the local focus for
CCG services. With local patient
participation groups, district
and town councils and parish
councils and other local bodies,
they work with us to develop
our plans.
• Our Patient Revolution
events - are annual events,
which have seen up to 200
people draw up an agenda to
talk about issues which matter
to them. In 2014 the rich and
varied feedback we received
helped us prioritise our work.
• Our market stalls - the CCG
visits market towns to speak to
people directly. The CCG works
with other partners such as
Suffolk Community Healthcare,

Live Well Suffolk, Norfolk and
Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
and Healthwatch Suffolk to
maximise opportunities to share
information with the public.
Continuing the work started
in 2013/14, the CCG visited
summer events to ask for views
on the Health and Care Review.
• Our new website - is
continually updated and
refreshed to keep it up-to-date.
www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/
• Social media - our number of
Twitter (@nhswsccg) followers
grew to 1,360 from 700
last year. We use it to raise
awareness and share news. We
launched a Facebook page in
January 2014, which we have

been using more frequently to
publish our work. We also have
a #SuffolkNHS stream which
we share with our partner
organisations on NHS matters.
• Our GP Practice visits - we
visit each practice on a monthly
basis to keep in touch with local
issues and provide channels
of communication between
patients, GPs and the Governing
Body.
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‘YOU SAID, WE DID’

People told us in 2014/15 that
they wanted to see NHS partners
better able to share information
between each other, easier access
to services, improved care in the
community and better ways of
involving the voluntary, charitable
and community sector.

This year we held specific events
to get views from mental health
service users to help develop a new
strategy for 2015 and beyond.
We also held events, together
with NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG, to discuss improvements to
dementia services.

We have also built on people’s
previous comments to invest more
in mental health and children
and young people’s services in
2014/15.

Our Redesign team, working
with service users, has shaped
new services for those with
chronic pain, heart conditions and
diabetes.

ACTIONS

We have provided drop-in events
for children and young people to
discuss matters they told us they
wanted to know more about, such
as mental health and eating more
healthily.

By the end of 2014/15, we made
sure that all practices had been
given the correct technology and
support to help them upload a
Summary Care Record of every
patient who had chosen to be
part of the scheme. These records
contain life-saving information
on such things as allergies
that can be accessed between
NHS organisations, and is data
protected.
During the summer, we visited
a variety of shows and events to
share a vision of how health and
social care could join-up services
better. Working with NHS Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG and the
county council, we spoke to over
5,000 people. This feedback was
summarised in an independent
report by Healthwatch Suffolk
(available online at www.
healthwatchsuffolk.co.uk). It has
been used to start to develop a
project called ‘Connect Sudbury’,
where we are testing how police,
health and social care and other
partners can better work together.
Eventually we aim to ensure
voluntary and charitable groups
can gain better links with the
statutory sector bodies. Once
thoroughly tested, the model will
be rolled out across other towns
and villages.

In December 2014, over 600
people came to look around the
new Sudbury Community Health
Centre. We co-produced this event
with Sudbury Working and Acting
Together for Community Health
(WATCH) and volunteers from
the town and Babergh District
councils.

Our seasonal communications
campaign showed the strength
in working together. We saw an
increase in use of the NHS 111
service and greater numbers of
people were seen in the right place
at the right time. This campaign
won an award from the Health
Business Magazine. We also
translated materials to share with
migrant populations how to best
make use of the NHS, and included
mental health in our messages.

At Christmas 2014, Local GP and
former Governing Body member,
Dr Jon Ferdinand, re-wrote the
lyrics of Good King Wenceslas
with a health care focus, with the
help of a Bury St Edmunds choir,
the Aquarius Singers. The song is
available on YouTube.
https://www.youtube.com/watch
?v=ebLna30QmH8&feature=you
tu.be

In partnership with local councils,
we have produced health guides
for Brandon, Mildenhall and
Newmarket in 2014/15, and we
have refreshed the Haverhill health
guide. One for Sudbury has been
drafted ready for printing early in
2015/16.
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OBJECTIVES

1. Patient safety and quality

In partnership with our member
practices, stakeholders and the
public, we set a series of objectives
which aim to improve the quality
of care that our patients received
whilst, at the same time, provide
value for money. These objectives
are explained in more detail over
the coming pages.

Patient Safety

They are:
1. Patient safety and quality
2. Promoting healthy outcomes
3. Integrated care
4. End of life (EoL)
5. Planned care
6. Medicines management
7. Mental health

The CCG is committed to working
as part of the local Patient Safety
Collaborative which is being
established as a further response
to the report, ‘A Promise to Learn
- a Commitment to Act’, which
made a series of recommendations
to improve patient safety and
called for the NHS ‘’to become,
more than ever before, a system
devoted to continual learning and
improvement of patient care, top
to bottom and end to end.’’
The CCG further endorses the
aim of the ‘Sign up to Safety’
campaign to make the NHS
the safest healthcare system in
the world by creating a system
devoted to continuous learning
and improvement.

8. Children, young people
and maternity
9. Cancer
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inequalities by decreasing the gap
in life expectancy and adding life
to years. It will:
• Ensure that the alcohol
services commissioned by the
CCG work seamlessly with
the new integrated services
commissioned by Public Health,
which are expected to start in
April 2015.
• Review the obesity pathway
and weight management
treatment services ensuring all
patients flow through a tiered
programme of care to improve
the quality of interventions for
those requiring bariatric care.
• Work with Public Health and
others in Suffolk County Council
to ensure that prevention is
embedded into our integrated
care approach. We will look at
co-commissioning opportunities
as Public Health re-procures the
current lifestyle service.
• Ensure that maternity services
increase the number of
mothers and babies benefitting
from breast feeding and also
supporting mothers to start.
3. Integrated care
The case for change in our health
and care system is strong. In west
Suffolk we are taking action to
meet this challenge for change,
and further developing a health
and care system that works well
for people. A system that:

2. Promoting healthy outcomes
In partnership with Public Health
and Suffolk County Council, the
programme aims to improve
population health by focusing
on prevention to limit the
onset, or reduce complications
of conditions such as diabetes,
cardiovascular disease, other long
term conditions and some cancers
which are associated with lifestyle.
It aims to provide an evidence
based approach to deliver health
improvement and reduce health

• Supports people to lead
healthy and independent
lives, but when they do need
help, it provides this swiftly
and effectively, with a view
to getting them back to their
own lives, in their own homes,
with access to the people and
activities that they enjoy.
• Seeks to prevent health and
care needs, not simply to treat
them when they arise.
• Puts people in charge of their
own health and care plans, and
takes account of what matters
to people.
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Specifically we have worked with
Suffolk County Council and other
partners to:
1. Help people to be more
independent for longer,
whenever possible. People
are living longer, often with
multiple long term conditions
and increasingly complex
needs. Their needs do not fit
neatly into “social care” or
“health”, and cannot be met
by addressing these in isolation.
People want information, advice
and support to help them to
live independently for as long
as possible regardless of their
health diagnosis. By delivering
integrated care in Suffolk people
will be able to get help earlier
and access a wider range of
options, including self-help,
which reduce the need for
intensive and longer term
support. Services will be tailored
to the distinct urban and rural
communities that characterise
Suffolk.
2. Reduce costs of health and social
care. Both local government
and the NHS are managing net
reductions in budgets, despite
the increasing demand and cost
of services. A drive to seven day
working and increasing patient
and customer choice are further
contributing to pressures. The
current fragmented system
leads to duplication, multiple
assessments and professional
contacts, and sometimes
conflicting plans and advice.
Integrating care in Suffolk
will mean we configure our
systems so that people receive
seamless, coordinated care and
integrated services, which are
not duplicated and do not leave
gaps. This will mean we use
resources more effectively and
take early action which prevents
long term costs in the future.
For example, a reduction in
the demand for hospital based
emergency services through
community based health and
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care services keeping people well
in their own homes.
3. Create a system that is
rewarding to work in. Health
and care organisations are
increasingly struggling to recruit
staff. Integrating care will
require professionals to work
in a new model of health and
care and will make the sector
more attractive and rewarding
to work in. This will contribute
towards more motivated,
productive staff that are better
able to deliver improved
outcomes for people.
This change will take time, but
work is already well underway.
Using the strengths of working
together, we have already:
• Launched the new system
model of care in Sudbury codesigning with local providers
and the voluntary sector the
provision of local services to
improve the support and care to
local people.
• Introduced comprehensive
geriatric assessment and
interface geriatrics to support
people with complex care
needs.
• Implemented an integrated
early intervention service in
West Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust with a range of local
services working together across
the acute and community
providers under a single
management approach. We
aim to build on the success of
this Enhanced Early Intervention
Service by extending the model
of delivery into the community
during spring 2015.
• Implemented an integrated
care home model that aims
to improve the coordination
and management of residents
with complex frail care needs.
The model is coordinated by
a senior clinician who works
alongside care home staff,
primary and acute care and

sessional pharmacists to provide
a joined up holistic service to
care homes.
4. End of Life (EoL)
We are committed to providing the
best possible services for palliative
care and end of life patients,
allowing them to be cared for in
the place of their choice. To do
this, we have started to:
• Support more people to spend
their last days in their preferred
place/usual place of residence.
• Make sure end of life care is
open, accessible and equitable
to everyone.
• Developed and educated our
workforce using agreed training
programmes.
• Through education and training,
promoted the Advance Care
Planning (ACP) process and
individuals understanding of
Yellow Folders.
• Ensured an integrated crisis
response service is available
24/7 by way of a collaborative
approach by all providers of EoL
care, e.g. Community Services,
West Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust and St Nicholas Hospice
Care.
• Made links with dementia care
and EoL care in order to address
patient choice around the
advance care planning process
earlier in the patient pathway.
We will further develop work
programmes during 2015/16 so
they can be fully embedded into
everyday clinical practice.
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5. Planned Care
The CCG has continued to provide
local integrated services through
shared decision making, support
and access to patient-centred and
holistic services. This will be taken
forwards under three strands of
work:
• Strand one: GP Practice support
and referral refinement focusing on education and
guidance across the health
system and in a multi-faceted
approach that recognises clinical
and patient choice.
• Strand two: Optimisation of
current services - ensuring that
current services are achieving
maximum outcomes and seek
further opportunities.
• Strand three: Transformation of
services into the community continued roll out of community
services and exploration of
further opportunities.
6. Medicines Management
Through this programme, we have
made safe changes in prescribing
which are appropriate and offer
value for money.
This has included:
• Encouraging safe, appropriate,
evidence-based and cost
effective prescribing.
• Promoting the same prescribing

recommendations across
primary and secondary care.
• Promoting the traffic light
system, which has been
developed by the Suffolk
CCG’s Drug and Therapeutics
Committee and Clinical
Priorities Group to manage the
introduction of new drugs or
new licensed indications into
practice.
• Ensuring that there is a strong
focus on the alignment of
prescribing spends with
practice prescribing budgets
by promoting a range of
metrics and guidelines and also
providing hands-on prescribing
support to aid implementation
of these.
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The CCG’s approach to embedding
‘parity of esteem’ incorporates the
following:
• Understanding the needs and
barriers people with mental
health issues have in accessing
health care and developing our
plans accordingly.
These include:
• Learning from the Suffolk
Mental Health Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment.
• Development of our Mental
Health Strategy. This will be
taken to the Suffolk Health and
Wellbeing Board in May 2015.
• Co-production with Service
Users:

7. Mental Health
The CCG is fully committed
to ensuring an equal focus on
improving mental health as
physical health and that patients
with mental health problems do
not suffer inequalities as a result.
The CCG has worked to ensure
that:
• Mental health provision is open
and accessible to all people who
need it regardless of their age
and the diagnosis and severity of
their mental health condition.
• No mental health service user
should need to be returned to
their GP for onward referral to
another mental health service.
• It commissions mental health and
learning disability services which
are integrated with the wider
health and social system and
which support the recognition
that people’s mental health
should be seen as part of their
overall physical and mental
wellbeing. This will apply to all
people regardless of their age
including those marginalised
from society.

The Mental Health Strategy has
been co-produced through a series
of eight service user led workshops
which have developed the key
themes of:
a. Prevention and living well
b. Crisis.
c. Recovery.
The CCG has also worked with
the Suffolk Youth Ambassador,
commissioned by Health and Social
Care, to actively seek the views
of children and young people,
particularly about stress experienced
by young people.
We are embarking on a series
of targeted consultations with
children and young people in
schools and local colleges about
their health needs and concerns
and this will include specific
sessions on mental health. This
work is part of our ambition to
keep service user involvement in
the centre of our future planning
and help to reduce the stigma
surrounding mental health.
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8. Children and Young People
and Maternity
The CCG has continued to work
closely with our partners, in
particular with Suffolk County
Council, Norfolk and Suffolk
Foundation Trust (NSFT) and the
members of the West Suffolk
CCG Paediatric Strategy Group
and Regional Children, the Young
People and Maternity Clinical
Network and the voluntary sector.
The priority areas for attention
include:
• Promoting early intervention
and prevention approaches.
• Improving multi-agency/
professional working based
around the child and family.
• Re-commissioning of specialist
community paediatric medical,
nursing and therapy services
and improved integration of
those with the wider health,
social care and education
system.
• Improved outcomes for
vulnerable groups such as
Looked After Children (LAC).
• Reviewing emotional health and
wellbeing services including the
newly commissioned primary
mental health workers and
autism services.
• Exploring opportunities for
better integration of tier 3 and 4
Children and Adolescent Mental
Health Services (CAMHS).
• Development of personal health
budgets in accordance with
national guidelines.
• Work with the commissioned
Young Persons Ambassador and
CCG Community Engagement
Group (CEG) to identify and
respond to issues arising
and ensure principles of user
co-production are followed
in service development and
redesign.
• Continued management of
paediatric asthma, epilepsy and
diabetes, specifically community
pathways and non-elective
activity.

9. Cancer
Cancer is an illness which affects
thousands of people every year.
There are approximately 1400 new
cancer diagnoses per year within
the west Suffolk CCG locality.
We want to continue to improve
outcomes by making sure cancers
are diagnosed early, services
are compliant with national
best practice as outlined in the
‘Improving Outcomes Guidance:
A Strategy for Cancer’, and that
care is equitable and accessible to
everyone and delivered in the most
appropriate setting.
More specifically, we have worked
to:
• Support cancer survivors
and improve survival rates
through access to the National
Cancer Survivorship Recovery
Programme.
• In line with the above encourage
supported self-management
through end of treatment
summaries and individualised
care plans being shared with
both the GP and patient
themselves.
• Improve early diagnosis.
• Provide up-to-date, high
quality and personalised cancer
information which links with
the shared decision making
process; provide cancer care
closer to home through a
regional Strategic Clinical

Network initiative - Transforming
Community Cancer Care
programme (TCCC).
• Introduce a new operational
framework to reduce emergency
cancer admissions by 10%.
• Extend access to endoscopy to
support the national screening
programme.
• Offer 95% of patients at the
end of their treatment a place
on a free wellbeing programme,
e.g. The HOPE Programme.
There will be a continued focus on
supporting cancer survivors and
improving cancer survivorship,
providing care closer to home and
providing up to-date, quality and
personalised cancer information linking with the Shared Decision
Making process (SDM).
High Cost Drugs and Devices
The CCG has ensured
that there is a consistent,
evidenced-based, cost-effective
commissioning programme for
the implementation of all tariff
excluded high cost drugs and
devices. This means that only
the excluded drugs and devices
commissioned are those where a
consistent body of evidence exists
for a specific indication and will
require collaboratively working
with Providers to identify and
implement changes which provide
more cost effective pathways for
the local health economy.
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CASE STUDIES - OUR CLINICAL PRIORITIES

PLANNED CARE:

INTEGRATED CARE:
Enhanced Early Intervention Team (EEIT)

Since April 2014 over 1,000
patients have had support
from the new Enhanced Early
Intervention Team (EEIT). This
team integrates key services to
manage admission avoidance
pathways from the emergency
department (ED) and the short
stay acute medical unit at West
Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust.
This means these patients have
either not had to be admitted to
hospital or have not had to stay
in hospital as long, reducing
upheaval and stress for them
and their family.
EEIT intervention sees, on
average, 35 patient discharges
each week - and has been
as high as 54 - from the
emergency department,
clinical decision unit and short
stay unit. Patients see the
appropriate professionals who
provide treatment, advice and
support enabling them to return
home to manage their own
condition rather than remain in
hospital.
The Enhanced Early Intervention
Team consists of a range of
organisations:

•
•
•
•

Physiotherapists.
Occupational therapists.
Social workers.
Rehabilitation assistant
practitioners.
• Age UK Suffolk support
workers.
• Dementia Intensive Support
Team liaison nurse.
• Crossroads Carers
East Anglia.
EEIT staff work with community
colleagues to support patients
in their own home. The nature
of this support varies depending
on the needs of the patient. The
team shares an office to ensure
an integrated approach to
admission avoidance. The team
also has access to a vehicle
at evenings and weekends to
enable patients who require
stretcher transport to be
discharged out of traditional
working hours. Age UK Suffolk
escort those patients who can
get in a car, settling them back
in to their home environment,
which could include helping
with a meal or getting some
shopping.
The seven day fully integrated
EEIT service meets the needs
of a growing older population
and those living with chronic
conditions. Services work
together to ensure patients
have an individualised care plan
that supports their identified
needs. This ensures they feel
sufficiently confident and
informed to return home, with
the appropriate support to
manage their needs.

West Suffolk Community
Diabetes Service
Diabetes is one of the
major challenges facing
the NHS, being the long
term condition with the
fastest rising prevalence. In
2012/13 there were 11,139
adults diagnosed in West
Suffolk and it is estimated
that a further 2,510 are
undiagnosed.
In 2013, a pilot project ran
with four surgeries in Forest
Heath. Diabetic nurses from
West Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust ran joint clinics with
practice nurses on a weekly
basis to engage with patients
and improve their ability to
manage their diabetes. The
project team were delighted
when they were shortlisted
as finalists at this year’s
General Practice Awards.
Inspired by the success of
the pilot project, the CCG is
responding to the findings of
the National Diabetes Audit,
building on this successful
partnership project, and
working with all GP practices
in West Suffolk to launch
an improved community
diabetes service which will
begin in April 2015.
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END OF LIFE:
‘Identification of a Deteriorating Resident
Tool’ for use in Care Homes

CANCER:
Cancer diagnosis rates

Figures published by the Health and Social Care
Information Centre (HSCI) show that 59% of
cancers in the NHS West Suffolk CCG area are
diagnosed at stage one or two, higher than
anywhere else in the country and significantly
above the national average of 41%.
There are four stages which determine the extent
to which cancer has spread, with stage one being
the earliest. By getting diagnosed at an early stage
of a cancer’s development patients have a much
better chance of survival and recovery.

Two nurses in the West Suffolk region have been
working jointly with care home staff to help
them to recognise the signs of deterioration in
a care home resident. They have devised a tool,
“Identification of a Deteriorating Resident”,
which uses a series of prompts to chart the subtle
changes in health status of a care home resident
that often precedes a more serious deterioration.
Based on the Gold Standard Framework principles
(2011) and the Australian Karnofsky Performance
Status (2005), the tool is designed to assess
residents on a monthly basis, and score their
health status according to standardised criteria.
This criteria includes issues such as record of
hospital admissions, co-morbidity, functional
assessment, treatment with antibiotics, onset
of confusion and any other significant incident
such as a fall or bereavement. The resulting
score signposts the care staff to trigger a range
of actions, from beginning discussions on
deteriorating health with residents and families,
to liaising with the resident’s GP to initiate end
of life care discussions (yellow folder), create
a shared care plan and put on out-of-hours
palliative care register (111).
The tool is currently being piloted in care homes
and with hospice patients. Early indications are
that it is proving to be very helpful for care staff
to support conversations with GPs and to know
when to establish residents’ wishes and make
plans for their future care.

Acute oncology services (AOS) play a critical role
in managing urgent care when a cancer patient
needs it. The AOS was first established at the
West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust in April 2011
on the back of National Guidance. The post was
initially supported by the Anglia Cancer Network
(now Strategic Clinical Network) with an Acute
Oncology Nurse being recruited for a two year
fixed term period. A substantive clinical nurse
specialist now supports the service 4 days a week.
In addition the Trust is also benefiting from having
a Consultant Clinical Oncologist as part of the
team supporting the AOS alongside the nurse.
Locally, the service supports the management
of patients who develop severe complications
following chemotherapy, patients who develop
complications as a consequence of their previously
diagnosed cancer, and patients who present as
emergencies with previously undiagnosed cancer.
The following services are available to support
patients:
• A dedicated telephone support/advice line
available 24/7.
• An AOS that’s available to see patients
Monday to Friday, 9am-5pm.
• Out of hours: advice from Addenbrookes
Oncology SpR/Consultant on call.
• Daily cancer patient email alerts.
• Assessment beds on Macmillan Day Unit.
In early 2015, two additional members of nursing
staff, funded by Macmillan Cancer Support have
joined the team in order to extend the current
service provision across the working week.
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MEDICINES MANAGEMENT:

MENTAL HEALTH:

The Pain Ladder

Perinatal Mental Health

GPs in West Suffolk currently
write prescriptions for over
300,000 analgesic drug items
per annum, costing almost £3m
(based on recent prescribing
data, April 2014 - January
2015). In order to promote
evidence-based prescribing of
analgesics and to contain costs,
the Medicines Management
Team at West Suffolk CCG has
been working in partnership
with specialists from the West
Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust to
produce a document known as
the Pain Ladder.
This is a tool that gives guidance
on analgesic choice for adults
in primary care, focussing on
acute pain, chronic pain and
neuropathic pain. It recommends
a step-wise approach to the
management of pain, giving
details of medication doses
and special precautions, e.g. to
consider a proton pump inhibitor
in patients at increased risk of

gastrointestinal adverse effects
with a Non-Steroidal Antiinflammatory Drug (NSAID).
A particular issue with codeine
is highlighted, regarding the
metabolism of codeine to
morphine. There is a risk that
this metabolism is variable and
unpredictable and therefore
morphine itself is the preferred
opioid in the management of
moderate and severe pain.
Adjuvant therapies are promoted
as useful for consideration
at any stage of treatment.
These include gentle exercise
programmes, transcutaneous
electrical nerve stimulation
(TENS) and medicines such as
anticholinergics, muscle relaxants
and corticosteroids.
The Pain Ladder has been
circulated to all GP practices in
West Suffolk and is available on
the WSCCG website.

Perinatal (or maternal)
mental health encompasses a
range of mental health issues
experienced by pregnant
women and new mothers.
They are surprisingly
common, affecting up
to 20% of women at
some point, and include
depression, anxiety, psychosis
and post-traumatic stress
disorder. Many women feel
reluctant to admit they are
experiencing these problems
and will often suffer in
silence for fear of being seen
as a ’bad’ mother.
In a recent report, it is
estimated that perinatal
mental health problems
cost the NHS £1.2 billion
per year in the UK. Over the
last year, organisations in
Suffolk have been looking
at how to improve support
for these women and have
been working to improve
communication between
health care professionals.
West Suffolk’s psychiatric
liaison service has started
holding joint clinics with
midwives as a 6 month pilot
for pregnant women. The
aim is that women should
find it easier to discuss
their concerns and to get
adequate support at a
time that is right for them.
Monthly mandatory training
and supervision, when
required, is also offered to
the midwives.
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ACHIEVEMENTS
This is a summary of our best achievements, which have improved health services
for the people of west Suffolk.

You can view all of
the NHS booklets
currently available
here:
http://www.
westsuffolkccg.
nhs.uk/your-health/
leaflets-andpublications/

A new eating disorder service
delivers mental and physical
support to children and young
people who are living with
anorexia nervosa and bulimia
nervosa. The service provides
access to health professionals
and Family Therapy support.

The Alternative To Admission Project
was developed to offer people in
a mental health crisis a place in
supported accommodation rather
than admission to hospital.

West Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust is the best performing of
all 16 hospitals in the East for
stroke care.

Working with Forest Heath
and Mid Suffolk councils
we have produced health
guides for Haverhill, Brandon,
Mildenhall and Newmarket.
Another one for Sudbury will
be published in April 2015.

CCG
Achievements

In partnership with IESCCG, the
CCGs were awarded NHS Publicity
Campaign 2013/14 for the winter
campaign. It was praised for
being innovative and far-reaching.
It included a hard-hitting cinema
advert as well as posters, leaflets
and social media.

In partnership with IESCCG, the
CCGs have been accredited an
Investors in People for Health and
Wellbeing Good Practice award.
This recognises the broad approach
to health & wellbeing including
Sudbury Community
fruit of the month, community
Health Centre opened in
engagement activities
January. All the services
and lunch and learn.
provided in Walnuttree
Hospital, St Leonard’s
Hospital, Acton Lane
Clinic and Siam GP
surgery were moved into
the purpose-built facility.

Read more in our
newsletter here:
http://www.
westsuffolkccg.nhs.
uk/news/wsccgnewsletter/
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PERFORMANCE
Our performance against the key NHS Outcomes Framework measures and the NHS Constitution
measures is set out as follows.
NHS Outcomes Framework
Our latest performance against the key indicators of the NHS Outcomes Framework is summarised (below).
This is based on national data collections.
West Suffolk CCG is shown as a blue circle. The yellow box shows the interquartile range and the black dotted
line is the England median. We performed better than the national average in all but four of the measures of the
Outcomes Framework. We continue to work with Public Health and providers to understand those areas where the
CCG is below the national average, and to identify opportunities for performance involvement, using local data
where available.
Indicator

Spine Chart

CCG Outcomes Indicator Set - domain 1
1.1 Potential Years of Life Lost amenable to healthcare - female
1.1 Potential Years of Life Lost amenable to healthcare - male
1.2 Under 75 Mortality from CVD
1.4 Myocardial infarction, stroke and stage 5 kidney disease in people with diabetes
1.6 Under 75 Mortality from respiratory disease
1.7 Under 75 Mortality from liver disease
1.8 Emergency admissions for alcohol released liver disease
1.9 Under 75 Mortality from cancer
1.10 One year survival from all cancers combined
1.11 One year survival from breast, lung and colorectal cancers
1.17 Record of stage of cancer at diagnosis
CCG Outcomes Indicator Set - domain 2
2.1 Health related quality of life for people with long term conditions
2.2 % of patients with long term conditions who feel supported to manage their condition
2.6 Unplanned admissions chronic ACS conditions
2.7 Unplanned hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in under 19s
2.15 Health-related quality of life for carers
CCG Outcomes Indicator Set - domain 3
3.1 Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospitalisation
3.2 Emergency readmissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital
3.3 Hip replacement casemix adjusted health gain
3.3 Knee replacement casemix adjusted health gain
3.3 Groin hernia casemix adjusted health gain
3.3 Varicose veins casemix adjusted health gain
3.4 Emergency admissions for children with lower respiratory tract infections
CCG Outcomes Indicator Set - domain 4
4.1 Patient experience of GP out-of-hours services
4.2 Patient experience of hospital care
4.5 Responsiveness to inpatients’ personal needs
CCG Outcomes Indicator Set - domain 5
5.3 Incidence of healthcare associated infection - MRSA
5.3 Incidence of healthcare associated infection - C.Difficile

NHS West Suffolk CCHG England Median
Worse outcomes

Interquartile range

Region Mean
Better outcomes
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Securing additional years of
life for people with treatable
mental and physical health
conditions:

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15

National comparison - Potential years of life lost (per 100,000 population)

Reducing premature mortality
is one of the overarching aims
of the NHS. The CCG will have
the most significant impact in
reducing premature mortality by
determining which contributing
factors are of greatest impact to
the local population. This analysis
will continue to be undertaken
jointly with Public Health.
The CCG is committed to
increasing additional years of
life for local people. This will be
measured through a reduction in
potential years of life lost from
causes considered amenable to
healthcare i.e. those causes from
which premature death should not
occur in the presence of timely
and effective healthcare (generally
relating to deaths in those aged
under 75).

East Anglia comparison - Potential years of life lost (per 100,000
population)
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Page 25

Improving health-related
quality of life for people
with Long Term Conditions,
including Mental Health:
Increasing the quality of life for
those people with long-term
conditions is a priority within
the Health and Wellbeing Board
strategy, and reflected in the CCG’s
clinical priorities. Performance is
measured through the national
GP Patient Survey, based on the
numbers of patients reporting
they have a long term condition,
together with indicators around
the quality of life for such patients.

National comparison - Average health score (out of 100) for people with
long term conditions

The CCG’s performance (shown
in orange) is in fourth quintile
nationally (2013/14) and one of
the best against CCGs within East
Anglia.
As part of the CCG’s strategy to
integrate health and social care,
there will be a focus on supporting
the health and independence
of individuals. This will focus on
care for frail, elderly, people and
those living with chronic long
term conditions (including mental
health) to ensure care and support
is driven towards improving the
quality of life for such people.

East Anglia comparison - Average health score (out of 100) for people
with long term conditions
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Reducing the amount of time
people spend in hospital
by enabling access to more
integrated care in community:
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National comparison - Avoidable emergency admissions (per 100,000
population)

Reducing the amount of time
people spend in hospital relies on
good management of long-term
conditions across the health and
care system to support people in
managing long term conditions
and to promote swift recovery and
reablement after acute illness.
The CCG’s performance (shown
in orange) for the number of
avoidable emergency admissions
is around the national average
(2013/14), but is higher than many
other CCGs within East Anglia
for emergency admissions that
should not usually require hospital
admission (adults).

East Anglia comparison - Avoidable emergency admissions (per 100,000
population)
Based on a composite measure of emergency admissions for acute
conditions that should not usually require hospital admission (adults);
unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions
(adults); unplanned hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in
children; emergency admissions for children with lower respiratory tract
infection.
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Increasing proportion of
older people living at home
independently following
discharge from hospital:

Do you have confidence in managing your own health?
CCGs within East Anglia

% of Yes definitely
& Yes to some effect

This is measured through the GP
Patient Survey (Q32), which was
published in January 2015. Data
has been collected on two specific
questions.

Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG

67

West Suffolk CCG

66

Norwich CCG

66

North Norfolk CCG

66

West Norfolk CCG

66

Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG

65

NHS England average

64

South Norfolk CCG

64

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG

64

In the last 6 months, have you had enough support from local
services or organisations to help manage a long-term condition?
CCGs within East Anglia

% of Yes very
confident & Yes
fairly confident

Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG

95

West Suffolk CCG

94

Norwich CCG

94

North Norfolk CCG

94

West Norfolk CCG

93

Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG

93

NHS England average

93

South Norfolk CCG

93

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG

92
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Increasing the number of
people with physical and
mental health conditions who
have a positive experience
of hospital care and positive
experience of care outside of
hospital, in General Practice
and in the community:

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15

The CCG’s performance for the proportion of patients reporting a
‘poor’ experience of hospital care is one of the lowest in England
(2013).

Comparative performance for the proportion of patients reporting
a ‘poor’ experience of care in General Practice.
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Making significant progress
towards eliminating avoidable
deaths in our hospitals caused
by problems in care:

Page 29

The comparative reporting rate summary shown below provides an
overview of incidents reported by NHS organisations to the National
Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) occurring between 1 October 2013
and 31 March 2014. West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust reported 2,008
incidents (rate of 7.28) during this period.

Patient Safety Incidents
Research shows that organisations
which regularly report more Patient
Safety Incidents (PSI) usually
have a stronger learning culture
where patient safety is a high
priority. Patient safety incidents
are any unintended or unexpected
incidents that could have, or did,
lead to harm for one or more
persons.
West Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust sits in the middle 50% of
reporters when compared to
similar small acute organisations,
with 7.28 incidents reported per
100 admissions, in line with the
median rate.
An analysis of the types of
incidents reported during the
period October 2013 to March
2014 is shown on the graph right.
This shows that West Suffolk
NHS Foundation Trust has broadly
the same reporting profile of
similar small acute organisations.
However, reporting of incidents
relating to the following areas is
above average:
• ‘implementation of care and
ongoing monitoring/review;
• ‘treatment, procedure’; and
• ‘medication’

Figure 1: Comparative reporting rate per 100 admissions for 28 small
acute organisations
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The graph right shows the profile
of incidents reported and by their
degree of harm. At West Suffolk
NHS Foundation Trust, 85.8% of
incidents resulted in no harm to the
patients (against a national average
of 69.3%), with less than 1% per
cent resulting in severe harm or
death.
The CCG routinely scrutinises
information and metrics relating to
patient safety, including the Safety
Thermometer, never event and
serious incident data and the other
quality metrics. This will aid the
identification and consideration
of emerging themes and trends
in patient safety and harm. The
CCG will cooperate with, and
participate in, the emerging
patient safety collaborative being
set up by NHS England whose aim
is to provide a network of patient
safety learning and improvement
to continually improve care at
the front line and to reduce the
likelihood of harm to patients.
The increase in reporting of harm
and in particular the reporting
of medicines related incidents
will be actively promoted by the
CCG through contractual and
quality improvement discussions
with providers and stakeholders.
Monitoring of the levels of
reporting through the National
Reporting and Learning System
(NRLS) and through Serious Incident
reporting routes will support
the NHS Outcomes framework
aim of ‘higher reporting and the
emergence of diminishing levels
of harm…through the application
of best practice and innovative
approaches to service delivery. e.g.
pressure ulcer prevalence.’
The acute contract with West
Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
will place a responsibility on the
provider to report all patient safety
incidents on a monthly basis. This
will be reviewed and monitored
at monthly Quality Monitoring
meetings, with contractual levers
applied where appropriate.

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15

Page 31

Medication-related safety
incidents
Medication incidents are PSIs
which actually caused harm or
had the potential to cause harm
involving an error in the process of
prescribing, dispensing, preparing,
administering, monitoring or
providing medicines advice.
For the period, October 2010 to
March 2013, West Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust reported 197
medication-related errors, slightly
above the average for similar small
acute trusts (194). For the last
reporting period October 2013
to March 2014 West Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust reported 261
medication related safety incidents
compared to the average of its
peer group small acute trusts of
213.
National guidance requires
commissioners to agree a specified
increase in the level of reporting
with providers. By improving
reporting in the short term,
providers and commissioners can
build the foundations for driving
improvement in the safety of care
received by patients.
The contracts with main local
providers will set out the
requirement for the reporting
of every medication error each
month via the Clinical Quality
Performance Report (CQPR). The
CQPR report will include details of
the level of harm associated with
all incidents of medication errors.

Number of medication-related errors reported (Oct 12 to Mar 13).
The CCG agreed a 2% increase in reporting of medications across providers
in 2014/15, based on a review of the current National Reporting and
Learning System (NRLS) data and in discussion with the CCG Medicines
Management team.
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Performance measures 2014/15

Indicator
Ref 14/15

Description

Framework

Quality
Premium

Reporting Contractual
Frequency Measure

Current
Period

Current
Period
Target

Current
Period
Actual

Latest
Applicable
Target

VTD
Actual

Comments
/ Next
Refresh
Date

Referral To Treatment waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment
NHS EC Annex
B Measure
NHS EC Annex
B Measure
NHS EC Annex Y (redn 25%)
B Measure

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

90%

86.1%

90%

91.1%

WS CCG

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

95%

92.7%

95%

96.8%

WS CCG

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

92%

92.4%

92%

95.6%

WS CCG

NHS EC Annex
B Measure

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

1%

5.91%

1%

1.61%

WS CCG

NHS EC Annex
Y (redn 25%)
B Measure

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

95%

95.3%

95%

93.5%

WSH

NHS EC Annex
Y (redn 25%)
B Measure
NHS EC Annex
B Measure

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

93%

95.9%

93%

97.7%

WS CCG

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

93%

97.6%

93%

97.2%

WS CCG

NHS EC Annex
B Measure
NHS EC Annex
B Measure
NHS EC Annex
B Measure
NHS EC Annex
B Measure

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

96%

99.1%

96%

99.0%

WS CCG

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

94%

100.0%

94%

96.7%

WS CCG

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

98%

100.0%

98%

100.0%

WS CCG

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

94%

97.9%

94%

96.4%

WS CCG

EB12

EC Annex
Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within two months (62 days) of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer NHS
B Measure

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

85%

85.1%

85%

84.9%

WS CCG

EB13

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62-days of referral from an NHS Cancer Screening Service

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

90%

90.0%

90%

93.3%

WS CCG

EB14

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62-days of a consultant decision to upgrade their priority status

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

90.4%

100.0%

89.2%

91.1%

WS CCG

EB1

The percentage of Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways within 18 weeks for completed admitted pathways

EB2

The percentage of Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways within 18 weeks for completed non-admitted pathways

EB3

The percentage of Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways within 18 weeks for incomplete pathways

Diagnostic test waiting times
EB4

Diagnostic test waiting times

A&E waits
EB5

A&E waiting time - total time in the A&E department

Cancer waits - 2 week wait
EB6

All Cancer 2 week waits

EB7

Two week wait for breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected)

Cancer waits - 31 days
EB8

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment within one month of a cancer diagnosis

EB9

31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-surgery

EB10

31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-anti cancer drug regimens

EB11

31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-radiotherapy

Cancer waits - 62 days
NHS EC Annex
B Measure
NHS EC Annex
B Measure

Category A ambulance calls
EB15a

Ambulance clinical quality - Category A (Red 1) 8 minute response time

EB15b

Ambulance clinical quality - Category A (Red 2) 8 minute response time

NHS EC Annex
Y (redn 25%)
B Measure
NHS EC Annex
B Measure

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

75%

77.0%

75%

67.9%

WS CCG

Quarterly

Y

Mar-15

75%

60.2%

75%

55.7%

WS CCG

NHS EC Annex
B Measure

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

0

0

0

2

WSH

NHS EC Annex
B Measure

Monthly

Y

Mar-15

0

0

0

0

WSH

NHS EC Annex
B Measure

Monthly

Y

Q1 14/15

95%

98.6%

95%

98.6%

WS CCG

Mixed Sex Accommodation
EBS1

Mixed Sex Accommodation (MSA) Breaches

Cancelled Operations
EBS2

Cancelled Operations

Mental Health
EBS3

Mental Health Measure - Care Programme Approach (CPA)
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Performance of the CCG for
the period of review and in the
future

pressures over winter and ensured
that the health economy met its
nationally mandated access targets.

Resources, principal risks,
uncertainties and long-term
performance

Financial performance

In addition, the CCG also invested
the funds retained due to marginal
rate rule (£4m approximately)
and readmissions (£0.9m
approximately):

Resources

The CCG delivered its key statutory
and administrative financial duties
during the financial year ending
31 March 2015 with a year-end
surplus of £2.77m on an overall
resource limit (RRL) of £280.8m.
Financial performance targets can
be found in Section 3 Accounts,
Note 21.
The CCG successfully implemented
a number of Quality, Innovation,
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP)
initiatives to address growth,
improve quality and support
delivery of nationally mandated
performance targets.
Growth in activity at West Suffolk
NHS Foundation Trust continued
to be a major risk during 2014/15.
The CCG had to absorb significant
costs relating to an increase in the
number and complexity of current
continuing healthcare cases and
an increase in prescribing spend
due to price increases on category
M drugs and increase in volumes
of drugs prescribed within certain
therapeutic areas.
The CCG delivered the required
surplus through investment
phasing, use of contingency
funding and the successful
implementation of a number of
QIPP initiatives.
Continuing healthcare (CHC) and
prescribing spends are likely to be
on-going financial pressures and
a significant amount of work is
being undertaken to minimise the
future impact.
Investment Expenditure
During the year the CCG
spent £2.2m on non-recurrent
transformation projects and
£2.1m on winter schemes. These
investments focussed on relieving

• On managing the demand for
admitted emergency care.
• To recovery through earlier
discharge.
• Enhanced community-based
rehabilitation.
• Re-ablement to prevent
inappropriate readmissions.
These investments were approved
by the Urgent Care Network as a
part of the Assurance Framework in
October 2013 and the Area Team
at the start of the year. A number
of these investments have been
successful in terms of delivering
the KPI’s set for managing hospital
admissions.
The CCG is currently reviewing the
planned investments for 2015/16
and while detailed business
cases are being developed, we
will be focusing on improving
quality over a number of areas
including reduction in emergency
admissions. In addition, the CCG
has also invested in a community
pain service and Early Supported
Discharge Service for stroke patients
which begins in April 2015.
Better Payment Practice Code/
Prompt Payments Code
Note 6.1 in Section 3 Accounts
measures the CCGs compliance
with the Better Payment Practice
Code. The code requires the CCG
to aim to pay all valid invoices
by the due date or within 30
days of receipt of a valid invoice,
whichever is later.
The CCG is not a signatory to the
Prompt Payments Code but does
adopt the good practice that the
code promotes.

The CCG’s Revenue Resource Limit
(RRL) for the year ending 31 March
2015 was £280.8m. The value of
the initial RRL was based upon
the weighted capitation formula.
This formula takes into account
the population served by the CCG
amended for factors including age,
need and market forces.
As a result of the national allocations
review carried out by NHS England,
West Suffolk CCG was deemed to
be over funded and as a result will
receive smaller increases in RRL in
future years.
Significant relationships that
may affect the CCG’s long term
performance
West Suffolk CCG has positive and
productive relationships with all of
the key local stakeholders, specifically:
• We are a member of the Suffolk
Health and Wellbeing Board,
which brings together key
stakeholders across Suffolk to
oversee the delivery of the county’s
health and wellbeing strategy.
• We are a member of the Suffolk
System Leadership Partnership,
bringing together executive leaders
from health and social care to drive
the Suffolk health and care review.
• We lead the local urgent care
network which oversees urgent
care performance in west Suffolk.
• We work with local people
in various ways, including its
community engagement group
and patient revolution events.
• We are a key member of a number
of local stakeholder forums in
west Suffolk, such as the West
Suffolk Partnership and ONE
Haverhill board.
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• We convene regular GP locality
meetings for its member
practices.
• We lead a clinical liaison group
meeting with clinicians from
West Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust.
• We are a part of various NHS
England forums, such as the
Quality Surveillance Group.
Environmental and Social
Sustainability
The CCG is committed to
promoting environmental
sustainability throughout actions
as a corporate body as well as a
commissioner.
Sustainable development requires
the CCG to be mindful of the
need to safeguard the future
in all of its choices, decisions
and actions. Wherever possible
the CCG and individuals should
take opportunities to contribute
positively to the local economy
and community, reduce waste
and utilities consumption, and
minimise any negative impact on
the environment both now and for
future generations.
Transport
The CCG has not yet quantified
plans to reduce carbon emissions
and improve our environmental
sustainability. The biggest direct
impact the CCG can make relates
to travel. The CCG is based at
West Suffolk House, Western
Way, Bury St Edmunds, IP33
3YU. The CCG is working to
minimise journeys and encourages
sustainable travel by promoting
and supporting car sharing for staff
and Governing Body members
through its differential mileage
payment rates, promotional
activities and leadership. The
CCG’s location offers benefits for
cyclists. The Cycle To Work scheme
is promoted.

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15

Procurement
The CCG reviewed and updated
its procurement policy in 2013/14
with input and advice from a
group of local residents. The
revised policy includes additional
emphasis on the Social Value Act,
promoting tax compliance and
patient and public involvement in
procurement processes.
Facilities Management and
Energy Consumption
West Suffolk House is a purpose
built public sector office building.
The four storey building provides
approximately 4,500m2 of flexible
open plan office space, along with
conference and meeting rooms,
public access areas, a flexible
democratic space/council chamber
and ancillary support areas
including a staff café. West Suffolk
House has recently achieved a
BREEAM ‘Excellent’ rating, as well
as being in Energy Performance
Band A.
The building has been designed
to a very high energy efficiency
standard to achieve a 47%
Percentage Emissions Reduction
Commitment (PERC) benchmarked
against conventional modern
office buildings. This has been
achieved through incorporation of
the following measures into the
design and operation:
Structure
Exposed reinforced concrete
structure to provide high thermal
mass for night cooling aided
by automatically controlled
ventilation.
Ground Source Heat Pump
Open loop borehole type
ground source heat pump linked
to embedded pipework in a
“bubbledeck” concrete floor
slab, the first of its kind to be
constructed in the UK. This allows
both heating or cooling of the
building mass to control room
temperatures.

Ventilation
Natural ventilation as far as
practicable throughout. The roof
is pitched in a manner designed
to improve natural ventilation
buoyancy.
Building Management System
A comprehensive BACNet building
management system.
Insulation and Glazing
Solar performance double glazing.
Solar Thermal Water Heating
20m sq solar thermal collectors
which track the sun in order to
generate approximately 25% of the
hot water demand.
Lighting
Enhanced efficiency lighting systems
above the Building regulations.
Rooflights installed on the atrium
roof to increase daylight penetration
in the office, supplemented by
daylight dimming control linked
to artificial perimeter lighting
installation.
Rainwater Harvesting
Rainwater harvesting to provide
some of the water for toilet flushing.
Human Resources
The CCG has supported remote
working for all staff who can work
this way and worked to align
peripatetic and outreach staff
such as medicines management
technicians to GP practices as close
to home as possible to improve their
quality of working life and reduce
mileage.
Information management
and technology
The CCG has adopted a ‘don’t
print it’ policy and encouraged use
of non-colour printing whenever
possible. All Governing Body,
Clinical Executive members and
senior staff have iPads for all
corporate meetings. ‘Papers’ are
uploaded to a Workshare facility
and not printed. The CCG continues
to invest in technologies in primary
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care to reduce paper and increase
the efficiency and effectiveness of
services to patients.
Adaptation to Climate Change

To support this commitment, we
have developed the Equality and
Diversity Plan 2012/15 to outline
our commitment and approach to
equality and diversity work.

The CCG has worked to consider
climate change in the development
of emergency response plans
and procedures and raise staff
awareness to ensure that the CCG
workforce is prepared to deal with
adverse incidents connected with
climate change.

Equality objectives

Social sustainability

1. Changes across services for
individual patients are discussed
with them, and transitions are
made smoothly.

Improving the health of those
most in need and promoting selfcare are two of the CCG’s clinical
priorities which are clearly linked
to achieving social sustainability.
To facilitate delivery of these
priorities the CCG has established
a community engagement group
and wide network of community
organisations.
Equality and Diversity Report
Equality and diversity is an
important focus for the CCG. Our
vision and our clinical priorities
have been developed with equality
and the diversity of our population
in mind. Along with our lay
member for patient and public
involvement we have a further two
GPs who champion GP equality
and diversity alongside a GP lead
for health inequalities.
The CCG is committed to
commissioning fair, accessible,
appropriate and sensitive health
services for all. We are also
committed to being a fair, inclusive
and diverse employer.
The CCG has a duty to comply with
the Public Sector Equality Duty. It
has committed to using the Equality
Delivery System 2, a nationally
developed toolkit to help support
objective setting and monitor
progress.

The CCG initially adopted the
three equality objectives published
by NHS Suffolk in April 2012 with
a minor amendment of the third
human resource objective, as
noted below:

2. Patients, carers and communities
can readily access services, and
should not be denied access on
unreasonable grounds.
3. Senior (changed from middle)
managers and other line
managers support and motivate
their staff to work in culturally
competent ways within a
work environment free from
discrimination.
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What we will do
• Programmes will demonstrate
as appropriate the use of local
data, national proxys, where
this is not available or plans to
collate data to identify needs of
protected groups and address
inequalities.
• Programmes will demonstrate
appropriate engagement of
organisations representing
protected groups.
• Go back to representative
groups to assess the CCG’s
progress in conducting its
business so that equality is
advanced and good relations
fostered within the organisation
and beyond as progressing from
‘developing’ to ‘achieving’.
Objective 2: senior leaders and
other line managers provide
leadership, support and motivation
for their staff to uphold the CCG’s
value of equality of opportunity to
improve the health of those most
in need.
What we will do

The CCG annually reviews its
performance on equality and
diversity across the organisation.
Working with the public, partners,
staff and unions we agreed two
objectives to concentrate on,
which are set out below with the
actions we have put together to
achieve against these:
Objective 1: to embed a
systematic process for collecting
data and engaging organisations
representing protected
groups in order to establish need
and develop responsive services
which address inequalities. A
robust action plan was put in place
at the end of November 2013

• 100% of staff will complete
equality and diversity training.
• Equality Impact Assessments
will be completed for all major
policies and service changes.
• All Clinical Executive and
Governing Body members,
including Chief Officers have
completed equality and diversity
training consistent with the
Competency Framework
for Equality and Diversity
Leadership.
• The CCG has established and
completed a programme of
engagement between senior
leaders with organisations
which represent protected
groups.
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• Community Engagement
Group members assess the
CCG’s progress in conducting
its business so that equality is
advanced and good relations
fostered within the organisation
and beyond as progressing from
developing to achieving.
• More than 80% of staff
surveyed agreed that the CCG
is actively advancing equality
objectives and fostering
good relations within the
organisation.
Meeting the equality duties
The CCG has prepared an
equality and diversity plan to set
out its approach to meeting the
requirements of the Equality Act
2010 and the public sector equality
duty.
In January 2014 the CCG
published equality information
about its service users and staff to
help inform its work.
For more information about
Equality and Diversity visit our
website.
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Members Report
This section sets out details
of the member practices of
the CCG, together with the
composition of each of the
Membership Bodies.
For the register of interests please
see page 55.
List of member practices
Angel Hill General Practice,
Bury St Edmunds
Avicenna, Hopton
Botesdale Health Centre, Botesdale
Brandon Medical Practice
Christmas Maltings Surgery,
Haverhill
Clements & Christmas Maltings
Surgery, Haverhill
Forest Surgery, Brandon
Glemsford Surgery, Glemsford
Guildhall Surgery, Bury St Edmunds
Guildhall and Barrow Surgery,
Bury St Edmunds
Hardwicke House Group Practice,
Sudbury
Lakenheath Surgery
The Long Melford Practice

Governing Body Membership
Dr Christopher Browning
(Chair)
Julian Herbert
(Chief Officer)
Dr Ed Garratt
(Chief Operating Officer)
Dr Simon Arthur
(GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath)
Bill Banks
(Lay member - Governance)
David Cripps
(Practice Manager Lead)
Dr Emma Derbyshire
(GP and Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds)
Johanna Finn
(Lay member - Public and Patient Engagement)
Carl Goulton
(Chief Finance Officer)
Dr Crawford Jamieson
(Secondary Care Doctor)
Peter Knights
(Practice Manager Lead)
Amanda Lyes
(Chief Corporate Services Officer)
Barbara McLean
(Chief Nursing Officer)

Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall

Dr Rakesh Raja
(GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury)

Mount Farm Surgery,
Bury St Edmunds

Dr Giles Stevens
(GP and Lead for Haverhill)

Oakfield Surgery, Newmarket

Dr Rosalind Tandy
(GP and Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds)

Orchard House Surgery,
Newmarket
The Rookery Medical Centre,
Newmarket
Siam Surgery, Sudbury
Stourview Medical Centre,
Haverhill
Swan Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Wendy Tankard
(Chief Contracts Officer)
Dr Andy Yager
(GP and Lead for Blackbourne)
Dr Dan Knowles
(GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath)
Governing Body membership is composed of 13 men and 6 women.

White House Surgery, Mildenhall
Victoria Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Profiles of members of the Governing Body are detailed within the
Remuneration Report.

Wickhambrook Surgery
Woolpit Health Centre, Woolpit

Anne Nicholls (Chair of the Community Engagement Group) attends the
Governing Body meetings, further strengthening public involvement.
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Members Report
WSCCG Clinical Scrutiny Committee

Remuneration & HR Committee Membership

Name

Organisation

Bill Banks (Chair)

Simon Arthur

WSCCG

Johanna Finn

Bill Banks*

Lay Member

Reserve - Dr Christopher Browning

Christopher Browning

WSCCG

Kevin Bernard

WSCCG

All of the above have been members since
commencement of the CCG in April 2013.

Dan Knowles

WSCCG

Johanna Finn*

Lay Member

Ed Garratt

WSCCG

Carl Goulton

CCGs

Julian Herbert

CCGs

Crawford Jamieson*

Secondary Care Doctor

David Kanka

SCC

Peter Knights

WSCCG

Amanda Lyes

CCGs

Barbara Mclean

CCGs

Rakesh Raja

WSCCG

Wendy Tankard

CCGs

Dr Giles Stevens

WSCCG

Rosalind Tandy

WSCCG

Andrew Yager

WSCCG

*Observer member (non-voting)

CCG Collaborative Group Membership
Martin Smith (Independent Chair)
Dr Christopher Browning
Bill Banks
Julian Herbert
Graham Leaf (Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG)
Dr Mark Shenton (Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG)

Community Engagement Group Membership
Anne Nicholls
(Chair)
Johanna Finn
(Lay member - Patient and Public Engagement)
Dr Ed Garratt
(Chief Operating Officer)
Roy Banks

Audit Committee Membership

Jane Carpenter
Carol Dalton

Bill Banks (Chair)
Peter Knights
Reserve - David Cripps
The following are in attendance at the Audit
Committee
• Representative from Finance
• Representatives from External Audit
• Representative from Internal Audit
• Representative from Counter Fraud

David Dawson, Suffolk Congress
Geraldine Dougall
Warwick Hirst
Carol Mansell
Lukasz Nowak
Peter Owen
Jon Rapley
Michael Simpkin
David Taylor
Karen Turner
(Healthwatch Suffolk)
Dianne Wright
Philip Worsley
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Pension liabilities
Details of the pension scheme
and how liabilities are presented
are included within the
accounting policies note of the
annual accounts with additional
information included as part of the
Remuneration Report.
Sickness absence data
The CCG’s sickness absence rate is
below the target of 2%. However,
sickness rates for the Shared
Management Delivery Team were
above target. The key reasons for
sickness absence are colds, coughs
and flu, gastrointestinal problems
and headache and migraines.
Return to work interviews and early
referral to occupational health by
line managers have helped reduce
and manage the level of sickness
absence. Other interventions have
included flu jabs for all employees,
a stress workshop, drop in clinics
and stop smoking sessions run
by Suffolk Occupational Health.
Other health and wellbeing support
initiatives include a walking club, a
cycle to work scheme and working
with social enterprise SoActive to
volunteer in communities.
All employees have access to a
Stress Management Toolkit, which
can be used to identify factors
which can cause stress and be
discussed with line managers and
the CCG’s occupational health. The
CCG has relaunched its staff Health
and Wellbeing group and a number
of health and wellbeing champions
have been appointed. Initiatives
rolled out include the following:
• Fruit of the month for all staff.
• Access to Psychological
Therapies (APT) workshops.
• Smoking cessation workshops.
• Flexible working opportunities.
• Monthly activities such as
looking after your heart.
Further information is included with
note 4.3 of the financial statement.
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2014/15
West Suffolk
CCG

Chief Operating Office, West Suffolk CCG
Chief Redesign Office, West Suffolk CCG
Overall rate

0.92%
2.07%
1.12%

Management
Delivery Team

Chief Corporate Services Office
Chief Contracts Office				
Chief Finance Office
Chief Nursing Office
Communications & External Relations
Office of the Accountable Officer		
Overall rate

6.57%
2.48%
1.42%
3.06%
0.09%
0.73%
3.10%

WSCCG Gender by Banding

Management Delivery Team Gender by Banding
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External Audit and Complaints

Audit Information

External Audit

So far as the Member is aware,
there is no relevant audit
information of which the CCG’s
external auditor is unaware;
and that the Member has taken
all the steps that they ought to
have taken as a member in order
to make themself aware of any
relevant audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s auditor is
aware of that information.

The CCG’s external auditor is Ernst
& Young and the cost of services
provided by them in 2014/15 was
£78,000. Work undertaken was
purely in the provision of statutory
audit services.
Cost Allocation & Setting
of Charges for Information
We certify that the CCG has
complied with HM Treasury’s
guidance on cost allocation
and the setting of charges for
information.
Disclosure of “serious
untoward incidents”
No serious untoward incidents
have occurred.
Statement as to Disclosure
to Auditors
Each individual who is a member
of the Governing Body at the time
the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:
• So far as the member is aware,
there is no relevant audit
information of which the clinical
commissioning group’s external
auditor is unaware.
• That the member has taken
all the steps that they ought
to have taken as a member
in order to make themself
aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish
that the clinical commissioning
group’s auditor is aware of that
information.

Principles for Remedy
The Parliamentary and Health
Service Ombudsman has
issued six Principles for Remedy
when handling complaints.
These principles set out for
complainants and bodies within
the Parliamentary and Health
Ombudsman’s jurisdiction how
they think public bodies should put
things right when they have gone
wrong - as well as its approach to
recommending remedies.
The Principles for Remedy are:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Getting it right.
Being customer focused.
Being open and accountable.
Acting fairly and
proportionately.
5. Putting things right.
6. Seeking continuous
improvement.
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Patients Advice and Liaison Service
(PALS)
PALS covers both CCG areas in Suffolk. It
provides information and advice on NHS
services such as GPs and Dental Practices,
Pharmacies and Opticians in West Suffolk
CCG area and all provider services
including Care UK, Suffolk Community
Healthcare and Allied Health Professionals
Suffolk.
PALS is the first point of contact for
patients where there have been changes
to or gaps in service for example; patients
querying the reduction of Gluten Free
products available on prescription and low
priority procedures.

Page 41

Number of PALS enquiries
Dental

1627

GP query

39

Continuing care

13

Funding

7

Podiatry

14

Optical

5

Physiotherapy

5

Meds/Pharmacy

24

Mental health

11

Med cert/recs

4

Continence

1

It is also responsible for the running of the
emergency dental line for Suffolk, referring
patients to duty NHS dentists on a ‘first
come first served’ basis each weekday in
Ipswich and Bury St Edmunds. The service
acts as the appeals process for free nonurgent hospital transport provided by the
Patient Transport Clinical Assessment and
Advice Service (PTCAAS).

Screening - bowel/breast/ cervical

0

For the period April 2014 to March 2015
PALS had 1998 contacts to the service
relating to West Suffolk CCG.
The total figure of calls to the service is
7159 which includes 173 out of area
queries and concerns.
Complaints
West Suffolk CCG received 40 formal
complaints during the period April 2014
to March 2015.

Acute

27

PALS - other area

16

Transport

93

Equipment

5

Community Hospitals

4

Out of hours

5

Child Weight Management

0

Miscellaneous

79

Low Priority Procedure

3

Out of area transport

16
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Employee consultation
We have developed robust
arrangements with our trade
unions on effective employee
engagement, and consult and
negotiate with them formally every
two months. The results of these
discussions are then cascaded
to all staff as appropriate. In
addition, we have established a
staff partnership forum, which was
nationally recognised when it was
shortlisted as a finalist in the 2013
and 2014 Health Service Journal
awards.
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managers need to take if an
applicant declares themselves as
disabled. We also take reasonable
steps to make sure all disabled
applicants are treated fairly, which
includes making adjustments to
interviewing venue, selection and
aptitude tests where necessary.
Occupational health advice and
support is offered to all staff and
specialist advice is taken for any
disabled employee or an employee
who then becomes disabled at
work.

We keep our staff informed about
their employment and the CCG’s
wider activities through a variety of
methods, including:

Our staff are all appraised annually,
and equality of opportunity is
always considered when their
personal development plans are
put together.

• Regular one-to-one meetings
with their manager, during
which they are encouraged to
table any concerns or issues.

We also regularly report on our
equal opportunity key performance
indicators to the remuneration and
HR committee.

• Monthly team briefings, which
are led by the chief officer and
give staff the chance to ask
questions, anonymously
if necessary.

Emergency preparedness,
resilience and response

• Weekly electronic newsletter.
• Via the intranet, where details
of the CCG’s performance are
updated monthly.
All matters concerning staff are
also discussed by the remuneration
and HR committee and the staff
partnership forum.

We certify that NHS West Suffolk
CCG has incident response plans
in place, which are fully compliant
with the NHS Commissioning
Board Emergency Preparedness
Framework 2013. The CCG
regularly reviews and makes
improvements to its major incident
plan and has a programme for
regularly testing this plan, the
results of which are reported to
the Governing Body.
Health and safety

Equality
We are committed to offering
equality of opportunity in all that
we do, including the recruitment
and selection of our workforce.
We hold the ‘Positive about
Disability’ symbol, along with a
gold ‘Investors in People’ national
award.
We have a robust recruitment and
selection policy in place which
explicitly illustrates the steps which

The Health & Safety and Risk
Committee meets every other
month to review health and
safety and risk issues relating to
NHS West Suffolk CCG and NHS
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG.
The committee is chaired by the
Chief Corporate Services Officer
and draws members from both
CCGs, property services, the
CCG Health and Safety services
provider (Safetyboss) and the
management delivery team. The

committee reports activities to the
remuneration and HR committee
for their information and
comment.
Over the last year training has
continued to be provided by
Safetyboss. This is in the form
of a two hour classroom session
covering manual handling, fire
safety and general Health and
Safety awareness. The content
of the training was refreshed
in January and the emphasis
was placed more on health and
safety in an office environment.
The issue of a safe working
environment is always on the
agenda and staff based at West
Suffolk House follow the Councils
guidelines. These have been
distributed to staff and include
advice on maintaining a tidy
workplace and asking everyone to
take a personal responsibility for
their own actions. The guidelines
also reinforced the need for staff
to report maintenance issues to
a central point so these could be
dealt with as efficiently as possible.
Other activates have included:
• Managing the Safetyboss H&S
delivery contract.
• Introducing a “Self Service”
Display screen equipment.
assessment for staff to use.
• Receiving updates of all risk
activities within the CCGs.
Fraud
There was a robust programme
of counter fraud and antibribery activity, supported by the
Local Counter Fraud Specialist
(LCFS) whose annual work plan
of prevention, deterrence and
detection was monitored by
the Chief Finance Officer and
the Audit Committee. The LCFS
regularly attends Audit Committee
meetings and ensures that the
CCG is compliant with the national
standards for countering NHS
fraud. Counter Fraud material was
disseminated to staff regularly

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15

Page 43

Remuneration Report
through the shared drive, posters
and leaflets. Fraud and Bribery Act
awareness training was provided
to staff to raise awareness of
potential issues and support their
work. The LCFS reviewed several
policies, including the Counter
Fraud and Corruption Policy,
the Whistleblowing Policy, the
Managing Conflicts of Interest
Policy, the Digital Communication
Policy and the Maternity Policy and
Procedure to ensure that they were
up-to-date and accurate. Policies
are reviewed in line with current
legislation and from a best practice
and counter fraud perspective.
The LCFS issued 10 Fraud Bulletins
during 2014/15 relating to subjects
such as mandate fraud, increased
threats from cyber-attacks,
potential telephone fraud, tax
refund scams, identity fraud, HM
Government - UK Anti-Corruption
Plan, fraudulent PayPal accounts
and hidden charges, which are
ongoing fraud issues nationally
within the NHS and the wider
public sector. A Continuing
Healthcare (CHC) payments
Counter Fraud proactive exercise
was agreed in 2014/15 and this
work will be carried forward and
undertaken during 2015/16.

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer
West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group
20 May 2015

Membership of Remuneration
& HR Committee
(not subject to audit)
Bill Banks, (Chair), Lay Member
Johanna Finn, Lay Member for
Patient and Public Engagement

The remainder of the senior
managers are paid on the VSM
(Very Senior Manager) grade. All
salaries having been nationally
benchmarked.
Senior Managers’
Performance-Related Pay
(not subject to audit)

Reserve - Dr Christopher Browning
There is no element of pay that is
performance related.
Policy on remuneration of
senior managers
(not subject to audit)
The policy for the remuneration
of senior managers was operated
in accordance with Agenda for
Change and it is intended to
continue with this policy for
future years. The pay for both
the Chief Officer and the Chief
Finance Officer was in accordance
with recently published national
guidance.

Policy on Senior Managers’
Contracts
(not subject to audit)
All staff including senior managers
(up to and including Band 9)
follow the national terms and
conditions of service pertaining
to notice periods. The maximum
period of notice under Agenda for
Change is 3 months. Chief Officers
are appointed in accordance with
the VSM framework and have
a notice period built into their
contract of employment of six
months.

Senior Managers Service Contracts
(not subject to audit)

Name

Date of
Notice Period Provision
of Contract		
for Early
			Termination
			
Julian Herbert
1 October
Six months
None
Chief Officer
2006
			
			
Carl Goulton
3 December
Six months
None
Chief Finance Officer
2012
		
			
Barbara McLean
8 May
Six months
None
Chief Nursing Officer
2012
		
			
Amanda Lyes
1 April
Six months
None
Chief Corporate
2012
Services Officer
			
Wendy Tankard
23 September Six months
Chief Contracts Officer
2013
		

None

Ed Garratt
29 March
Three months
Chief Operating Officer
2012
		

None

For attendance to remuneration and HR committee please see page 38.
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Salaries and Allowances 2014/15
(subject to audit)

Management
Delivery
Team

Period in Office:
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
Payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100

2014/15
Performance Long term All Pension
performance
Related
Pay and
pay and
Benefits
Bonuses
bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
£2,500)
£5,000)
£5,000)

Yes / No
Note 1
No

From

To

£000

£000

£000

£000

01/04/2014

31/03/2015

105 - 110

1

0

Chief Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014

31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015

50 - 55
30 - 35
35 - 40
40 - 45
35 - 40

2
0
0
2
2

GP Chair and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Lead for Newmarket Locality
Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Lead for the Haverhill Locality
Lead for Blackbourne Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement

No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014

31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015

60 - 65
30 - 35
30 -35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt

Chief Operating Officer

Julian Herbert
Barbara McLean
Amanda Lyes
Carl Goulton
Wendy Tankard
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Emma Derbyshire
Dr Daniel Knowles
Dr Rosalind Tandy
Dr Giles Stevens
Dr Andrew Yager
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Rakesh Raja
David Cripps
Peter Knights
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Johanna Finn

Total

2014/15
Management
Delivery
Team
Total Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

0

£000
Note 2
22.5 - 25

130 - 135

£000
Note 1
N/A

0
0
0
0
0-5

0
0
0
0
0

10 - 12.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
12.5 - 15
20 - 22.5

60 - 65
35 - 40
40 - 45
55 - 60
60 - 65

135 - 140
90 - 95
95 - 100
110 - 115
105 - 110

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

60 -65
30 -35
30 -35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 -15
10 -15
10 -15

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Dr Jonathan Ferdinand left his role on the Governing Body on 31st March 2014. Dr Daniel Knowles commenced his role on the Governing Body on 1st April 2014.
These were the only changes to the membership of the Governing Body during the year.

£000
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Salaries and Allowances 2013/14
(subject to audit)

Management
Delivery
Team

Period in Office:

2013/14
Salary & Fees Taxable
Annual
Long-term All Pension
Related
(bands of
Benefits Performance Performance
Benefits
£5,000)
(Rounded to
Related
Related
(bands of
the nearest
Bonuses
Bonuses
£2,500)
£00)
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)

Yes / No
Note 1
No
No

From

To

£000

£000

£000

£000

01/04/2013
01/04/2013

31/03/2014
24/08/2013

105 - 110
30 - 35

8
0

0
0

Chief Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Interim Chief Contracts Officer

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
23/09/2013
29/04/2013
01/04/2013

31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
30/09/2013
28/04/2013

50 - 55
40 - 45
35 - 40
30 - 35
20 - 25
10 - 15
5 - 10

3
2
2
1
1
1
0

GP Chair and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
Lead for Blackbourne Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Lead for the Haverhill Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement

No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
24/07/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013

31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014

60 - 65
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
15 - 20
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt
James Downes

Chief Operating Officer
Chief Redesign Officer

Julian Herbert
Carl Goulton
Amanda Lyes
Barbara McLean
Wendy Tankard
Jon Reynolds
John Wicks
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Emma Derbyshire
Dr Jon Ferdinand
Dr Rosalind Tandy
Dr Andrew Yager
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Rakesh Raja
Dr Giles Stevens
David Cripps
Peter Knights
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Johanna Finn

Total

2013/14
Management
Delivery
Team Total
Salary and
Fees (bands
of £5,000)

0
0

£000
Note 2
47.5 - 50
2.5 - 5

155 - 160
35 - 40

£000
Note 1
N/A
N/A

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

17.5 - 20
12.5 - 15
2.5 - 5
0
5 - 7.5
5 - 7.5
0

70 - 75
55 - 60
40 - 45
30 - 35
25 - 30
20 - 25
5 - 10

135 - 140
110 - 115
95 - 100
90 - 95
55 - 60
30 - 35
10 - 15

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

60 - 65
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
15 - 20
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

£000
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Salaries and Allowances
(subject to audit)

Note 2 - All Pension Related
Benefits

Note 1 - Management Delivery
Team

The amount included here is
the annual increase in pension
entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’
method for defined benefit
pension schemes. In summary,
this is as follows:

West Suffolk CCG host the
Management Delivery Team that
provides management support
to both West Suffolk CCG and
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The
cost of the Management Delivery
Team is shared between both
CCG’s in the proportion:- Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG 61.72%
- West Suffolk CCG 38.28%.
The Management Delivery Team
includes the above highlighted
Chief Officers. In addition to
showing the salary charged to
West Suffolk CCG, the table also
records the Chief Officer’s total
salary. As West Suffolk CCG host
the Management Delivery Team
the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
share of these pay costs is shown
as a charge from West Suffolk
CCG in the Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG’s accounts and not as
payroll costs.

Increase in pension entitlement
= ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) +
LSB), where:
• PE is the annual rate of pension
that would be payable to the
officer if they became entitled
to it at the end of the financial
year.
• PB is the annual rate of pension,
adjusted for inflation, that
would be payable to the officer
if they became entitled to it at
the beginning of the financial
year.
• LSE is the amount of lump sum
that would be payable to the
officer if they became entitled
to it at the end of the financial
year.
• LSB is the amount of lump
sum, adjusted for inflation, that
would be payable to the officer
if they became entitled to it at
the beginning of the financial
year.
The amount included is not a sum
paid to the officer by the CCG. It
merely represents the increase in
pension entitlement that occurred
during the year and is derived from
data received from NHS Pensions.
Where N/A is shown in the table
there is no requirement to disclose
as the pensions data received
includes contributions from other
employment sources.
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Period in Office:

Pension Benefits 2014/15
(subject to audit)

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt
Julian Herbert
Barbara McLean
Amanda Lyes
Carl Goulton
Wendy Tankard

Chief Operating Officer
Chief Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer

Real
increase /
decrease in
pension at
age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

From

To

£000

01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014
01/04/2014

31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015
31/03/2015

0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

No pension contributions were made in respect of the following Governing Body Members.
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Emma Derbyshire
Dr Daniel Knowles
Dr Rosalind Tandy
Dr Giles Stevens
Dr Andrew Yager
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Rakesh Raja
David Cripps
Peter Knights
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Johanna Finn

Chair
Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Lead for Newmarket Locality
Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
GP and Lead for the Haverhill Locality
Lead for Blackbourne Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member for Governance
Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement

Real
Total accrued Lump sum
Cash
Cash
increase /
pension at
at age 60
Equivalent Equivalent
decrease in age 60 at
related to Transfer Value Transfer
31 March
accrued
at 1 April
Value at
pension
2015
pension at
2014
31 March
lump sum
(bands of
31 March
2015
at aged 60
£5,000)
2015
(bands of
(bands of
£2,500)
£5,000)
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
2.5 - 5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
5 - 7.5

10 - 15
20 - 25
35 - 40
30 - 35
0-5
15 - 20

40 - 45
60 - 65
105 - 110
95 - 100
0-5
55 - 60

156
298
648
487
23
281

179
334
690
520
41
337

Real
increase/
decrease
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Employer’s
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

19
29
24
20
18
49

0
0
0
0
0
0
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Period in Office:

Pension Benefits 2013/14
(subject to audit)

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt
James Downes
Julian Herbert
Barbara McLean
Amanda Lyes
Carl Goulton
Jon Reynolds
Wendy Tankard
Dr Emma Derbyshire (Note 1)
Dr Jon Ferdinand (Note 1)
Dr Rosalind Tandy (Note 1)
Dr Andrew Yager (Note 1)

Chief Operating Officer
Chief Redesign Officer
Chief Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
Lead for Haverhill Locality
Lead for Blackbourne Locality

Real
increase /
decrease in
pension at
age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

From

To

£000

01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
29/04/2013
23/09/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013

31/03/2014
24/08/2013
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
30/09/2013
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014

0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - -2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Note 1: No requirement to disclose as data provided includes contributions from other employment sources.
No pension contributions were made in respect of the following Governing Body Members.
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Rakesh Raja
Dr Giles Stevens
David Cripps
Peter Knights
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Johanna Finn
John Wicks

Chair
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Lead for the Haverhill Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member for Governance
Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement
Interim Chief Contracts Officer

Real
Total accrued Lump sum
at age 60
increase /
pension at
related to
decrease in age 60 at
accrued
pension
31 March
lump sum
2014
pension at
at aged 60
(bands of
31 March
(bands of
£5,000)
2014
£2,500)
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
£000
£000
5 - 7.5
0 - -2.5
5 - 7.5
0 - -2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

10 - 15
0-5
15 - 20
30 - 35
30 - 35
0-5
10 - 15
15 - 20
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

35 - 40
0-5
55 - 60
100 - 105
95 - 100
0-5
30 - 35
45 - 50
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2013

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2014

Real
increase/
decrease
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Employer’s
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

123
25
251
619
456
6
107
258
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

156
31
298
648
487
23
138
281
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

30
2
41
16
21
17
12
9
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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Payments for Loss of Office
(not subject to audit)
None
Payment to past Senior
Managers
(not subject to audit)
There were no payments to past
senior managers.
Pay Multiples
(subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to
disclose the relationship between
the remuneration of the highest
paid director / member in their
organisation and the median
remuneration of organisation’s
workforce.
The banded remuneration of
the highest paid member of the
Governing Body in the financial
year 2014/15 was £105,000 to
£110,000 (2013/14 - £105,000
to £110,000). This was 3.27
(2013/14 - 3.35) times the median
remuneration of the workforce,
which was £30,000 to £35,000
(2013/14 - £30,000 to £35,000).
In 2014/15 no employee received
remuneration in excess of the
highest paid member of the
Governing Body. Remuneration
ranged from £5,000 to £10,000 to
£105,000 to £110,000 (2013/14
- from £5,000 to £10,000 to
£105,000 to £110,000).
Total remuneration includes salary,
non-consolidated performancerelated pay, benefits-in-kind
but not severance payments.
It does not include employer
pension contributions and the
cash equivalent transfer value of
pensions.
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Off-Payroll Engagements (not subject to audit)
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2015, for more than £220
per day and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015

15

Of which, the number that have existed:
- for less than one year at the time of reporting

7

- for between one and two years at the time of reporting

8

- for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

- for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

- for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2014 and 31 March
2015, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six
months in duration, between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015

7

Number of new engagements which include contractual
clauses giving the CCG the right to request assurance in
relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

7

Number for whom assurance has been requested

7

Of which:
- assurance has been received

7

- assurance has not been received

0

- engagements terminated as a result of assurance
not being received

0

The CCG has robust contractual arrangements with all of its off-payroll
engagements that minimises any risk to the CCG. The contractual
arrangements require all off-payroll engagements to provide assurance that
the correct amount of tax is being paid.

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
20 May 2015
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GOVERNING BODY PROFILES

Dr Christopher
Browning
Chair

Dr Simon Arthur
GP and Joint Lead
for Forest Heath locality

Dr Emma Derbyshire
GP and Joint Lead
for Bury St Edmunds
locality

Dr Andy Yager
GP and Lead
for Blackbourne locality

Dr Christopher Browning
is the Chair of West
Suffolk CCG and is a GP
appraiser with 10 years’
experience in hospital
medicine and 13 years’
experience as a GP. He
has had operational
experience in the outof-hours service and
many years’ experience
representing his GP
colleagues on the LMC.

Dr Simon Arthur has
been a GP in Suffolk
for 25 years and is the
lead partner at Oakfield
Surgery in Newmarket.
He is the CCG’s lead
on out-of-hours and
community services, end
of life commissioning
and the 111 service.
He is also the lead
clinical commissioner
for the East of England
ambulance contract.

Dr Emma Derbyshire
is a GP partner at the
Swan Surgery in Bury St
Edmunds and is the lead
on integrated care.

Dr Andrew Yager is a
GP partner at Botesdale
Surgery. He is the
GP lead for cancer
commissioning and
is also the Macmillan
facilitator for Suffolk.
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Dr Rakesh Raja
GP and Joint Lead
for Sudbury locality

Dr Roz Tandy
GP and Lead
for Bury St Edmunds
locality

Dr Giles Stevens
GP and Lead
for Haverhill locality

Dr Daniel Knowles
GP and Joint Lead for
Forest Heath

Dr Raja qualified in
1992 and spent a
large part of his initial
training in hospital
medicine. Before moving
into general practice
he worked in the
pharmaceutical industry,
developing new drugs
and designing clinical
trials. He has now been
working in Suffolk for
15 years as a GP and is
a partner at Hardwicke
House Group Practice in
Sudbury.

Since qualifying as a GP
in 2006, Dr Rosalind
Tandy has worked as a
salaried GP, remaining
within the west Suffolk
area. Roz is in charge
of the mental health
and learning disabilities
portfolio.

Dr Giles Stevens
graduated from
Edinburgh in 2001,
and initially worked in
Scotland. He returned to
Norfolk, having grown
up there, and worked
around the area after
qualifying as a GP and
became Partner at the
Clements Christmas
Maltings GP practice in
Haverhill in September
2012.

Dr Knowles is a GP
partner at The Rookery
Medical Practice in
Newmarket. He has a
keen interest in minor
surgery, ENT and
paediatrics.

Dr Raja is the clinical
lead for planned care,
working closely with the
local hospital clinicians in
developing services for
patients. He is actively
involved in developing
collaborative working
across the various
providers and partners in
the west Suffolk area.

He joined the executive
committee of West
Suffolk CCG in July 2013
and is a key member
of the integrated care
workstream.

Dr Knowles is one of the
prescribing leads at the
practice and uses this
experience in his role
as part of the medicines
management team at
the CCG.
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Peter Knights
Practice Manager Lead

David Cripps
Practice Manager Lead

Dr Crawford Jamieson
Secondary Care Doctor

Jo Finn
Lay Member Patient and Public
Engagement

Peter Knights is
business partner and
Practice Manager at
Mount Farm Surgery.
He has been Chair
of Bury St Edmunds
Commissioning
Consortium, and
Director and Secretary
of West Suffolk
Commissioning
Federation (WSCF). He
is a founder member of
WSCCG.

David Cripps joined the
NHS nineteen years ago,
since when he has been
a Practice Manager, first
in Cambridgeshire and
more recently in Suffolk.

Dr Crawford Jamieson
has 13 years experience
as a Consultant
Gastroenterologist
and Physician and is
currently an Associate
Medical Director at the
Norfolk and Norwich
University Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust.

Jo Finn is a management
consultant working
principally with public
services, including
developing the national
programme for Shared
Decision Making for
urology patients,
reviewing Medical
Undergraduate Clinical
Placements and setting
up the prototype
arrangements for
Major Review of Health
Professional Training.

Prior to joining the
health sector Peter spent
more than 20 years
in corporate banking,
corporate finance,
and latterly business
planning and strategy.
He is a member of the
CCG’s Audit Committee.

He has worked on
various projects and
committees, mostly
as a result of his
IT experience. He
was deeply involved
with Practice Based
Commissioning,
delivering, among
others, a diabetes
service in Sudbury that
pioneered inter practice
referral, was a Board
member of WSCF,
and has continued to
maintain his interest in
commissioning. He is
the joint governing body
lead for IT.

He has gained
experience of practice
based commissioning
from the secondary and
tertiary care perspective
and has seen the clear
benefits of good clinical
pathway design and
implementation in
improving the quality
of care that patients
receive. He has extensive
operational experience
within a busy University
Hospital and has also
been an Executive Board
member for the last six
years.

Prior to consultancy,
she was West Suffolk
Hospital’s NHS Trust
Chief Executive for eight
years. She has over
40 years experience in
health management at
all levels.
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Bill Banks
Vice Chair and Lay
Member - Governance

Julian Herbert
Chief Officer

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Operating Officer

Barbara McLean
Chief Nursing Officer

Bill’s role as Lay Member
for Governance is
strategic and impartial
and oversees key
elements of governance
including audit,
remuneration and
managing conflicts of
interest. Bill chairs the
CCG’s Audit Committee
and the Remuneration
& HR Committee. He is
also Vice Chair of the
Governing Body.

Julian Herbert is Chief
Officer for both NHS
Ipswich and East Suffolk
and NHS West Suffolk
Clinical Commissioning
Groups. He joined
the NHS in 2005 as
Director of Finance &
Performance of East
Suffolk Primary Care
Trust and played a major
role in resolving the
legacy of historic debt
both in the east and
then the west of the
county. Before joining
the NHS, he spent a
brief spell working in
local government and
has 15 years experience
in a range of commercial
and financial roles in the
private sector.

Dr Ed Garratt is the
Chief Operating
Officer of NHS West
Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group.
He was previously
Deputy Director of
Commissioning for
NHS East of England
and supported Sir Neil
McKay in establishing
NHS Midlands and
East. He has worked on
various policy areas, such
as the NHS Constitution,
primary care quality and
safety, and HR.

Barbara McLean is
Chief Nursing Officer,
with responsibility for
improving quality and
patient experience.
Making sure people’s
voices are heard in
healthcare settings
motivates her. She
knows that bringing
individuals into the
planning of their care
and making sure they
have the opportunity
and information to
truly understand what’s
happening, enhances
their experience - and
accessing the patients’
experience drives quality.

Bill is a qualified
accountant and served
as an examiner for his
professional institute.
Bill worked for NHS
Suffolk from 2007 to
2013 as a Non-Executive
Director and Chair of
its Audit Committee.
Prior to that, Bill worked
for 42 years in local
government and public
transport, majoring
in finance. His last
employer was Suffolk
County Council, where
he held the posts of
Director of Resource
Management and Head
of Strategic Finance.

He has a first class
honours degree in
History from the
University of Sussex
and a masters and a
doctorate in English
Literature from the
University of Cambridge.

She has a range of
experience in the NHS,
from being engaged
directly with patients
as a nurse to policy
development at the
Department of Health.
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Amanda Lyes
Chief Corporate Services
Officer

Carl Goulton
Chief Finance Officer

Wendy Tankard
Chief Contracts Officer

Amanda Lyes is the
Chief Corporate Services
Officer and has a
NHS career spanning
20 years. Although
professionally qualified
in Human Resources,
her profile now
encompasses IM&T,
corporate governance,
information governance
as well as HR. Her
strength’s are in the field
of change management,
organisational
development and
employee relations.

Carl is Chief Finance
Officer for both Ipswich
and East Suffolk and
West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning
Groups. Carl joined the
NHS in 2012 having
gained over 20 years’
experience in the private
sector, operating at
Board level in FTSE
and Private Equity
enterprises. He is a
Chartered Management
Accountant, Fellow of
the Institute of Directors
and Fellow of the
Institute of Leadership
and Management.

Wendy Tankard is
a Registered Nurse
(specialist Practitioner)
with over 30 years’
experience in the NHS
and private sector across
acute, community and
commissioning. She has
held positions as Director
of Nursing and Director
of Clinical Quality for
the North East Essex
PCT, in addition to
clinical quality and
governance she held
the portfolio for urgent
care and trauma and
more recently as Director
of Service Redesign
in the independent
sector. She was also an
advisor on the European
Commission task force
for e-health.

She has a wide
understanding of NHS
service delivery and
is passionate about
delivering a high
standard of service. She
is an experienced Board
member having held
Board level positions
in two other NHS
organisations and is a
Fellow of the Chartered
Institute of Personnel
and Development and
holds a MSc in Human
resource Management.
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REGISTER OF INTERESTS
2014/15
Dr Christopher Browning
Chair
• PMS Provider: Dispensary and
Commissioning Lead.
• Chair, Hartest Parish Council.
• GP Medical lead for Care UK
Suffolk out of hours service.
Dr Crawford Jamieson
Secondary Care Doctor
• Wife is a consultant physician
at Ipswich Hospital.
Bill Banks
Lay Member - Nil
Johanna Finn
Lay Member
• Director of Jo Finn Ltd  
Management Consultancy.
• NHS Senior Manager for many
years.
• Ex-husband was a consultant
obstetrician and gynaecologist.
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Peter Knights
Governing Body Member .

Dr Andrew Yager
Governing Body Member

• Business partner, Mount Farm
Surgery
• Mount Farm Surgery is a
member of the Suffolk GP 		
Federation.

• GP Partner, Botesdale Health
Centre.
• Director and shareholder of
Botesdale Rural Services.
• Wife works in day surgery at
West Suffolk NHS Foundation 		
Trust.

Dr Daniel Knowles
Governing Body Member
• Partner at the Rookery Medical
Practice, Newmarket.
Dr Rakesh Raja
Governing Body Member
• Director & shareholder of
Sudbury Health Partnership
providing community ultrasound
service in Sudbury.
• Senior GP Partner, Hardwicke
House Group Practice.
• Practice is subcontracted by
Serco to provide cover for beds
at Hazel Court Care Home.
• Wife is a GP at the same
practice and works under her 		
maiden name - Dr Catherine 		
Firth.

Dr Giles Stevens
Governing Body Member
• GP Partner, Christmas Maltings
and Clements Practice,
Haverhill.
• Practice is a member of the
Suffolk GP Federation.
Julian Herbert
Chief Officer
• Wife is employed by Suffolk
County Council.
Carl Goulton
Chief Finance Officer - Nil
Amanda Lyes
Chief Corporate Services Officer - Nil

David Cripps
Governing Body Member

Dr Rosalind Tandy
Governing Body Member

• Practice Manager - Hardwicke
House Group practice.
• Athletics coach for West
Suffolk AC - Sport England et
al sometimes commission work
from Clubs and Coaches.
• Wife is an employee of UNISON.

• Partner consultant for
Cambridge and Peterborough 		
Foundation Trust (CPFT) and is 		
clinical lead for Division 4 of the
clinical research network.
Dr Nicholas Simon Arthur
Governing Body Member

Dr Emma Derbyshire
Governing Body Member
• Swan Surgery is a member of
the Suffolk GP Federation
• Senior Partner sits on the
Suffolk GP Federation Board.
• Shareholder with Swan Med
Pharmacy and Director.
• Level 3 contracts for minor
surgery

• GP Partner at Oakfield Surgery.
• Member of the Suffolk GP
Federation.

Barbara McLean
Chief Nursing Officer
• Owner/Director of Allington
Healthcare Ltd.
• Allington Healthcare Ltd owns
Beckfield House Residential
Home, Lincolnshire.
• Spouse joint owner/director of
Alligton Healthcare Ltd.
• Spouse is a shareholder of
Clearwater Specialist Care
Group Ltd, Learning Disabilities
services provider.
Ed Garratt
Chief Operating Officer - Nil
Wendy Tankard
Chief Contracts Officer - Nil

Section 2
GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed
by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief
Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety
and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for
keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that
the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity
and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:


Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;



Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
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State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the financial statements; and,



Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
20 May 2015
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West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
Annual Governance Statement for 2014-2015
This Governance Statement has been prepared by the Chief Officer as the Accountable
Officer of West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group.
Introduction & Context
The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions
enacted in the Health & Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service
Act 2006.
As at 1 April 2014, the Clinical Commissioning Group was licensed without conditions.
Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.
Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we
have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice
available, including the aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code in respect of
leadership, effectiveness and accountability that we consider to be relevant to the CCG and
best practice.
The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L (2) (b) states:
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
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The governance framework of the Clinical Commissioning Group, in accordance with the
UK Corporate Governance Code, the framework for corporate governance, is the system by
which the Clinical Commissioning Group is directed and controlled in order to achieve its
objectives and meet the necessary standards of accountability and probity. Effective
corporate governance, along with clinical governance, is essential for a Clinical
Commissioning Group to achieve its clinical, quality and financial objectives.
The NHS Act 2006, together with the Health & Social Care Act 2012 and associated
legislation, sets out the legal framework within which the Clinical Commissioning Group
operates. It is a statutory requirement that the Clinical Commissioning Group Governing
Body specify their terms of reference, schedule of reservation and delegation of powers,
and the financial framework within which the organisation operates. These key documents
comprise the Clinical Commissioning Group’s corporate governance arrangements and
include:


The Constitution - as a framework for Governing Body governance



The Detailed Financial Policies - as a framework for financial governance



The Scheme of Reservation and Delegation - as a framework for internal
governance

It is essential that the public and all employees know of the existence of these documents
and for staff, that they are aware of their responsibilities as set out within. They will
therefore be reviewed, updated and approved each year at a meeting of the Governing
Body in public and made available on the Clinical Commissioning Group web site and
intranet.
Prior to establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group as a statutory body, as part of
the authorisation process, the proposed governance arrangements were checked for any
irregularities and found to be legally compliant.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Membership Body includes 25 member practices.
These member practices are:


Botesdale Health Centre, Botesdale



Avicenna, Hopton



Christmas Maltings Surgery, Haverhill



Woolpit Health Centre, Woolpit



Angel Hill General Practice, Bury St Edmunds
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Glemsford Surgery, Glemsford



Guildhall and Barrow Surgery, Bury St Edmunds



Mount Farm Surgery, Bury St Edmunds



Swan Surgery, Bury St Edmunds



Victoria Surgery, Bury St Edmunds



Brandon Medical Practice



Forest Surgery, Brandon



Lakenheath Surgery



Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall



Oakfield Surgery, Newmarket



Orchard House Surgery, Newmarket



White House Surgery, Mildenhall



The Rookery Medical Centre, Newmarket



Wickhambrook Surgery



Clements & Christmas Maltings Surgery, Haverhill



Stourview Medical Centre, Haverhill



Guildhall Surgery, Bury St Edmunds



Hardwicke House Group Practice, Sudbury



The Long Melford Practice



Siam Surgery, Sudbury

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Governing Body includes 8 GPs elected by their
peers, 2 practice managers, a lay member for governance, a lay member for patient and
public involvement, 6 chief officers (including an accountable officer, a chief operating
officer and a chief finance officer) and a secondary care doctor.
Governing Body meetings focus on patient and public engagement, clinical services,
finance, performance and scrutiny and governance and corporate business.
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Some of the key items considered by the Governing Body at meetings during the year
included:


Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14



Financial Recovery Plan



Five Year Strategic Plan



Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF)



Health and Care Review - Commissioning Model



Integrated Performance Report



NHS England - 5 Year Forward View



Primary Care Co-commissioning



Procurement Processes and Outcomes



Psychiatric Liaison Service



Stroke Services



Voluntary and Community Sector Engagement Strategy



West Suffolk Community MSK and Physiotherapy Service



Winter Pressures and Escalation

The Governing Body considers that it has been very effective in the discharge of its duties
and has been assured by NHS England at quarterly review meetings.
The below table shows the Governing Body attendance for 2014-2015:
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Attendance Register
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body Meeting
April 2014 - March 2015
Governing Body Member

30 April
2014

21 May
2014

4 June
2014

16 July
2014

24
September
2014

29 October
2014
(Private)

19
November
2014

28
January
2015

25 March
2015

Yes

4
February
2015
(Private)
No

Arthur, Dr Simon
(GP)

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Banks, Bill
(Vice Chair and Governance Lay
Member)

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Browning, Dr Christopher
(Chairman, GP)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Cripps, David
(Practice Manager)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Derbyshire, Dr Emma
(GP)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Finn, Johanna
(Patient & Public Involvement
Lay Member)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Garratt, Dr Ed
(Chief Operating Officer)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Goulton, Carl
(Chief Finance Officer)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Herbert, Julian
(Chief Officer)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Jamieson, Dr Crawford
(Secondary Care Doctor)

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Knights, Peter
(Practice Manager)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Knowles, Dr Dan
(GP)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Lyes, Amanda
(Chief Corporate Services
Officer)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Mclean, Barbara
(Chief Nursing Officer)

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Raja, Dr Rakesh
(GP)

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tankard, Wendy
(Chief Contracts Officer)

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Stevens, Dr Giles
(GP)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Tandy, Dr Rosalind
(GP)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yagar, Dr Andrew
(GP)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes
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Yes

The formal sub-committees established by the Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body
include:
The Audit Committee
The purpose and key functions of the Audit Committee include reviewing the adequacy of:
(i)

All risk and control related disclosure statements (in particular the Annual
Governance Statement), together with any accompanying Head of Internal Audit
statement, external audit opinion or other appropriate independent assurances,
prior to endorsement by the Governing Body;

(ii)

The structures, processes and responsibilities for identifying and managing key
risks facing the organisation through the oversight of risk management and
information governance strategies;

(iii)

The operational effectiveness of policies and procedures relating to internal
control and risk management including the Governing Body Assurance
Framework; and

(iv)

The policies and procedures for all work related fraud and corruption as set out in
Secretary of State Directions and as required by the Counter Fraud and Security
Management Service.

Highlights of the Committee’s work included:


Consideration and oversight of the work plans for External Audit, Internal Audit and
Counter Fraud.



Internal Audit reporting including reports on the following:
o Data protection and data security
o Individual funding requests
o Continuing healthcare
o Business continuity planning
o Information technology service management
o Human resources recruitment and payroll
o Monitoring the quality of services
o Non clinical contracts
o Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP)
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Counter fraud and anti-corruption policy



Oversight of the Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF)



Information Governance



Risk management



Managing conflicts of interest



Emergency preparedness



Personal health budgets

The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee
The purpose of the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee is to:
(i)

Advise the Governing Body about the appropriate remuneration and terms of
service for the Accountable Officer, Chief Officers and senior managers of the
Clinical Commissioning Group.

(ii)

Under delegated powers from the Governing Body, make decisions on all
aspects of the Accountable Officers’, Chief Officers’ and senior managers’
salary (including any performance-related elements and any allowances)
within the provisions of relevant national frameworks, provisions for other
benefits, as well as the arrangements for termination of employment and other
contractual terms.

(iii)

Advise on all Human Resources policies and procedures and issues that may
impact on the terms and conditions of employment for all staff.

(iv)

Advise on all matters of health and safety.

Highlights of the Committee’s work included:


Remuneration benchmarking review



Human resources/workforce performance



Health and safety/risk management



Investors in people



Management costs



Policy approval (human resources related policies)
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Education, training and development



Health and wellbeing strategy

The Clinical Scrutiny Committee
The purpose of the Clinical Scrutiny Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a dedicated forum for the oversight of clinical governance.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body and Audit Committee that the Clinical
Commissioning Group has the necessary clinical governance arrangements in
place to meet its objectives.

(iii)

Ensure effective clinical engagement in clinical governance processes, utilising
clinicians’ specific expertise and knowledge of local communities and
public/patient involvement.

(iv)

Facilitate a culture where clinical quality, patient experience and patient safety
are of the highest priority.

The Commissioning Governance Committee
The purpose of the Commissioning Governance Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a forum, with delegated decision making powers, for approval of
commissioning intentions where the recommended providers are GP practices.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body, Audit Committee, NHS England and
general public that the Clinical Commissioning Group has the necessary
governance arrangements in place to manage conflict of interest in regard to the
procurement of services provided by GP practices.

(iii)

Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the local commissioning of
GP services.

(iv)

Demonstrate that the Clinical Commissioning Group and member practices are
acting fairly and transparently and that final commissioning decisions are made in
ways that preserve the integrity of the decision making process.
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Attendance West Suffolk CCG Audit Committee
Meeting Date

Bill Banks

Peter Knights

Others in attendance to advise

8 April 2014

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief Finance Officer
Head of Accounting and Control
Governance Advisor

2 June 2014

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Chief Finance Officer
Head of Accounting and Control
Finance Accounting Manager
Governance Advisor

10 June 2014

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Finance Accounting Manager
Governance Advisor

9 September 2014

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Head of Accounting and Control
Governance Advisor

14 October 2014

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Finance Accounting Manager
Governance Advisor

9 December 2014

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Head of Accounting and Control

10 February 2015

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Head of Accounting and Control
Governance Advisor
Head of ICT and Informatics

Attendance West Suffolk CCG Remuneration and HR Committee
Meeting Date

Bill Banks

Johanna Finn

Others in attendance to advise

Yes

Dr Christopher
Browning
(Reserve Member)
No

22 April 2014

Yes

24 June 2014

Yes

Yes

No

Chief Corporate Services Officer

23 September 2014

Yes

Yes

No

Chief Corporate Services Officer

2 December 2014

Yes

Yes

No

Chief Corporate Services Officer

24 February 2015

Yes

No

Yes

Chief Corporate Services Officer
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Chief Corporate Services Officer

Attendance West Suffolk CCG Clinical Executive Committee
Committee Member

30 April 2014

25 June 2014

27 August 2014

17 December 2014

25 February 2015

Yes

29 October
2014
Yes

Arthur, Dr Simon

No

Yes

Yes

No

Banks, Bill

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Browning, Dr Christopher

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Cripps, David

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Derbyshire, Dr Emma

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Finn, Johanna

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Garratt, Dr Ed

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Goulton, Carl

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Herbert, Julian

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Jamieson, Dr Crawford

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Kanka, David

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Knights, Peter

Yes

Part

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Knowles, Dr Dan

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Lyes, Amanda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Mclean, Barbara

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Raja, Dr Rakesh

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tankard, Wendy

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

Stevens, Dr Giles

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tandy, Dr Rosalind

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yagar, Dr Andrew

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Attendance West Suffolk CCG Commissioning Governance Committee
Committee Member

21 May 2014

25 June 2014

19 November 2014
(Private meeting)

5 January 2015
(Virtual)

Banks, Bill

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Finn, Johanna

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Jamieson, Dr Crawford

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Goulton, Carl

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Herbert, Julian

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tankard, Wendy

Yes

No

Yes

Yes
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The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework
During the course of 2014-15, the organisation's processes for effective risk management
were managed in line with the Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Strategy
and Organisational Framework 2013-2015 and the Governing Body Assurance Framework
with this being reviewed by the Governing Body and by the Audit Committee at each of their
meetings.
The Chief Corporate Services Officer is the designated lead for overseeing the day to day
coordination of risk management reporting arrangements, including training and is a
resource for all risk related issues. The Governance Advisor supports Chief Officers, Heads
of Department and Line Managers, whilst also scrutinising all identified risk and incident
data. As the designated lead, the Chief Corporate Services Officer works in partnership
with:


The contract Health and Safety Advisers who act as the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s ‘Competent Person’



The Chief Nursing Officer with respect to risk management requirements set out in
the Care Quality Commission standards



The Information Governance Manager

Equality Impact Assessments are conducted at the outset of setting strategy and delivering
services across the commissioning cycle and in assuring a control and assurance culture
through risk, incident and complaints management which ensures a clearly defined culture
of equality across the Clinical Commissioning Group’s activities.
The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and
the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
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Information Governance
Data security risks are reported through the Information Governance Manager to the Chief
Corporate Services Officer. The Information Governance Group that reports to the Audit
Committee monitors a detailed action plan, linked to the requirements of the National
Information Governance Toolkit. Level-two compliance has been achieved for all of the
toolkit requirements giving an overall rating of ‘satisfactory’. No strategic data security risks
have been included in the Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) during the
course of 2014-2015.
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to
the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.

We have

established an information governance management framework and are developing
information governance processes and procedures in line with the information governance
toolkit. We have ensured that all staff under-take annual information governance training
so that they are aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
We are developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a
programme will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisation.
Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management & Internal Control
The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) provides the Clinical Commissioning
Group with a simple but comprehensive method for the effective and focused management
of risk. Through the GBAF the Governing Body gains assurance from the Chief Officers that
all risks are being appropriately managed throughout the organisation.
The GBAF identifies which of the organisation’s strategic goals may be at risk because of
inadequacies in the operation of controls, or where the Clinical Commissioning Group has
insufficient assurance. At the same time it encompasses the control of risk, provides
structured assurances about where risks are being managed and ensures that objectives
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are being delivered. This allows the Governing Body to determine how to make the most
efficient use of resources and address the issues identified in order to continuously improve
the quality and safety of healthcare commissioning.
In order to ensure consistency in the risk assessment process, the likelihood and
consequences of all risks on the Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Register are assessed
against an agreed 5x5 risk matrix. Those scoring 15 and above migrate to the GBAF and
thereby inform the Governing Body agenda. The risk matrix and subsequent red, amber,
green (RAG) score identify the level at which identified risks will be managed within the
organisation. It also assigns priorities for remedial action and determines whether risks are
to be accepted on the basis of the colour bandings and risk ratings. In evaluating
effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used to present how well the agreed controls
are operating.
A summary of the key strategic risks affecting the Clinical Commissioning Group during the
course of 2014-15 (including those carried forward into future years) and the actions taken
to eliminate or mitigate them have included:
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Risk
1.

Failure to safely manage surges in patients requiring urgent care during
the winter period and impact on ability to deliver 95% A&E target and
ambulance turnaround targets

Risk Removed from GBAFJuly 2014

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate











2.

Failure to achieve financial balance in 2014-15 and 2015-16













4.

Failure to evidence the national drive of zero tolerance on MRSA






Urgent Care Network (UCN) led by CCG Clinical Chair with Executive Director and Medical Director
accountability
UCN action plan with organisational responsibilities – delivery tracked monthly
Winter plan agreed by ICN and CCG Governing Body in July 2013 for early implementation
NHS England has signed off Winter Plan
Ongoing work with Serco and WSHT on transformation
Daily monitoring of performance at WSH
Escalation process agreed system wide
First Exception Notice issued and all actions complied with-now closed EEAST/IHT/WSH action plans to improve
ambulance handover times
Additional resources and initiatives for winter period
NHS England risk summit called

Project management approach to delivery of the QIPP plans
Focus on activity levels at acute provider with clear actions to mitigate against over performance
Close monitoring of the delivery of QIPP initiatives through KPI’s
Encourage innovative changes principally via CCGs to improve efficiency
Active scrutiny and challenge of specialist costs through meetings with the Specialised Commissioning team.
Participation in regional and national discussions
Governing Body review of expenditure prioritisation
Prioritisation process for QIPP initiative investments and transformational change at Clinical Executive Group
Clinical Exec currently working a number of mitigations
External review commissioned
CHC Project Board

All MRSA bacteraemia cases to be subjected to NHS England Post Infection Review (PIR)
CCG will lead PIR pre 48hr cases
Acute provider where case occurred will lead post 48hr cases
Review of all audits and contract monitoring information against CQC recommended IC standards (to include
antibiotic prescribing) in all CCG commissioned services. Review of compliance against national and locally
agreed MRSA screening standards
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Risk
6.

7.

Failure to achieve the local reduction trajectories for Clostridium difficile

Potential impact of Serco model of care and transformation as a result of
staff consultation
Risk Removed from the GBAF August 2014

9.

Service risks as a result of the NSFT proposed service redesign model
Risk Removed from GBAF May 2014

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate






Robust RCA process for each provider case and submitted to CCG for assessment.
Audit programme of CQC recommended IC standards (to include antibiotic prescribing) in all CCG
commissioned services
CCG attendance at PIR revie2ws and IPC Committee meetings
Provider delivery of targeted infection control education and audit in all CCG commissioned services.
15/16 trajectory agreed in SLA – ceiling for 16 Acute cases and 29 non-acute cases









Serco invited to meetings with CCG and stakeholders
Risk assessment of changes
Formal presentation to HOSC
Formal inclusion of KPI’s in performance report from March 2013
Engagement with Sudbury WATCH
Results of Quality Review shared.
3 Contract Queries open






NSFT meeting regularly with CCG and part of CCG work stream
Risk assessment of changes
HOSC scrutiny
Revised quality monitoring criteria
Multi agency workshop held with N&SFT on 04.03.14 to discuss impact of new operating model.NHS England /
Monitor/ Norfolk and Suffolk CCG’s meeting with N&SFT to review concerns.



10.

Work with WSH to monitor and report failure to monitor and report key
quality metrics impeding early warning systems to inform
commissioners and regulators of potential risks and deteriorating
standards of care
Risk Removed from GBAF May 2014









Improvements to quality of SIRI reports and the range of personnel to undertake report writing and investigations
is widened
Evidence of widespread learning and changes to practice required to evidence changes in risks and issues
Active clinical audit programme
Evidence of executive level scrutiny of high level issues i.e. never events
Board reporting to include patient safety and quality items as top priority
Monitor audits of WHO surgical checklist
Monitor action plan from Never event – including new strategy for safer surgery
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Risk
11.

As a result of an NHS White Paper there is no legal basis for Clinical
Commissioning Groups to receive, retain and process patient
identifiable data.
Risk Removed from the GBAF July 2014

12.

Implementation of Transforming Pathology Services
Risk Removed from the GBAF July 2014

14.

Failure to comply with NHS continuing Health Care Framework
This Risk was renumbered as 14a and 14b in February 2015

14a.

14b.

Failure to comply with NHS continuing Health care Framework

Retrospective claims for CHC for September, 2012 and March 2013 cut off

dates.

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate







Confirmation received that CCGs can continue to use data for PCT ‘close down’ phase only
Extension to Oct 2014 received allowing for use of SUS data.
Central email address established for queries, reviewed by Information Team and Caldicott Guardian. No
queries received.
Regular communication to organisation on what can and cannot be done by Information Team
Programme in place to outsource activities and contract with DMIC
Extension to 31/10/14 for validation of NCA





COO &C CO teams attending key meetings with implementation tams
Comms plan & pathways to be developed
Regular recovery meetings with TPP and other CCGs in place to resolve









Investment of clinical and administration personnel,
High attrition, retention of staff through training and ongoing support framework in development
Review of operation processes established to target backlog which will not effect on going business continuity
Policies and processes to be established and agreed by both CCGs
Establish management and administration process to review and manage the claims
Identify claims applicable to Ipswich and East CCG with indicative cost
Recruitment of personnel to administer clinically review all claims






Investment of clinical and administration personnel
High attrition, retention of staff through training and on-going support framework in development
Review of operating processes established to target backlog which will not effect on going business continuity
Policies and processes to be established and agreed by the CCG




Establish management and administration process to review and manage the claims
Identify claims applicable to Ipswich and East CCG with indicative cost
Recruitment of personnel to administer clinically review all claims






Establish management and administration process to review and manage the claims
Identify claims applicable WSCCG with indicative cost
Recruitment of personnel to administer and clinically review all claims
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Risk
15.

Resource challenges as a result of having the role of lead commissioner
for the East of England Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST), reducing the
ability to focus on other local services

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate






16.

17.

Risk of sub optimal clinical outcomes for stroke patients.



Risk Removed from the GBAF May 2014



West Suffolk Hospital finance position adversely impacting on quality
and performance at the Trust





18.

Failure to meet some statutory duties for Looked After Children
Risk removed from the GBAF January 2015

19.

West Suffolk Hospital change in CEO.








CCG consortium members engagement plans set out including regular information updates on progress
Strong links with the Trust Development Authority (the agency responsible for ensuring EEAST develop as an
organization)
Rigorous commissioning of EEAST by a standalone specialist team within the CCG overseen by the CCO
Involvement of the Area Teams in key areas including ambulance handover times at local trusts
Quality and patient Safety Review processes in place – CNO Team. Quality and Patient Safety Review
processes scrutinized by Consortium quality representatives not less than quarterly.

Direct financial consequences applied
Contract Query issued and remedial action plan agreed

Sign off Provider CIPs
Monthly meetings to discuss financial position performance and level of clinical quality
Regular FD meetings established. Ensure safer staffing review and data flow on implementation



Further development of multi-agency leadership, strategy and governance.
Development of commissioning strategy and service specifications.
Enhanced mechanisms for incorporating children and young people’s views into service redesign.
Additional specialist nurse recruitment.
Workforce development
Further development of emotional and mental health and well-being services
Task and Finish groups established to lead actions as per review recommendations



Regular FD meetings established

Risk Added to GBAF April 2014
Risk Removed from GBAF June 2014
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Risk
20.

Failure to redesign and commission services covered by the Urgent
Care and Health and Independence reviews within required
timescales

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate



Programme structure put in place for Health and Care Mapping of all existing services to ensure full coverage of
newly commissioned services
Regular review with SCC to ensure smooth running of programmes

Risk added to the GBAF May 2014

21.

Potential deterioration in practice viability (and consequent impact of
patient care) due to changes in national contract arrangements which
start to be introduced in April 2014
Risk added to the GBAF June 2014






Area Team setting up a range of working groups to address the changes in GP contracts which will include
membership from the CCG
CCG priority – robust primary care services remain in place to ensure appropriate use of secondary care services
LMC leading negotiations with Area Team.
CCG meeting regularly with LMC

Risk Removed from the GBAF February 2015
22.

LSP Contract Cessation
Risk added to the GBAF July 2014







23.

24.

System-wide coordination of the response to this contractual change is being led by the CCGs
Impacted providers are evaluating the benefits of the existing systems to enable development of appropriate
business case(s)
Investigation of procurement options
Follow up with DH around application for devolved funding / support
Financial implications being considered within 2 & 5 year plans, and long term financial outlook

111 Service failing to answer calls within KPI timeframe for both Call
answer in 60 second and warm transfer to clinician and call back
within 10 minutes



Risk added to the GBAF August 2014



Performance Notice issued for 60 second response standard and remedial action plan in place to return to 95% in
September 2014.
Warning Notice in place for warm transfer – remedial action plan not agreed – requirement to get to 95% by
September 2014 Likely to go to Exception notice
60 second performance worsened in November and December and a new Performance Notice has been issued.

A&E failing to meet 4 hour standard presenting a potential risk to
patient safety and experience.





Where required, daily system wide teleconferences designed to ensure all actions to improve patient flow are taken
Winter schemes designed to promote flow and increase capacity in place
Team of escalation managers in place to support system and directors on call.

Risk added to the GBAF January 2015



Further to monthly scrutiny, the risk ratings for each of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s key strategic risks have changed over
the course of the year as follows:
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Risk No

Apr-14

1
2
4
6
7
9
10
11
12
14
14a
14b
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

12
20
16
16
16
9
9
12
12
20

12
9
16
12

May-14
12►
20►
16►
16►
16►
Removed
Removed
12►
9▼
20►

12►
Removed
16►
12►
15
16

Jun-14

Jul-14

Aug-14

Sep-14

Oct-14

Nov-14

Dec-14

Jan-15

Feb-15

Mar-15

9▼
20►
16►
16►
9▼

Removed
20►
16►
16►
9►

20►
16►
16►
Removed

20►
16►
16►

20►
16►
16►

20►
16►
16►

20►
16►
16►

20►
16►
16►

20►
16►
16►

20►
20►
16►

12►
9►
20►

Removed
Removed
20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

Now 14a/b
20
20
9►

20►
20►
9►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

9▼

9►

9►

16►
12►
Removed
16►
12

16►
12►

16►
12►

16►

16►
12►

9▼
9▼

9►
9►

9►
Removed

9►

9►

12►

16►
20▲
20

16►
20►
20►
12

16►
20►
20►
12►

16►
20►
20►
9▼

16►
20►
20►
9►

16►
12▼
12▼
9►

12▼
9▼
12►
9►
12

12►
Removed
12►
9►
16▲

12►

The risk rating matrix used:
Likelihood score →

1: Rare

2: Unlikely

3: Possible

4: Likely

5: Almost Certain

Consequence score ↓
5: Catastrophic

5

10

15

20

25

4: Major

4

8

12

16

20

3: Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

2: Minor
1: Negligible

2
1

4
2

6
3

8
4

10
5
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12►
9►
16►

The subsequent red, amber, green (RAG) scores identify the level at which identified risks will be managed within the organisation. It also
assigns priorities for remedial action, and determines whether risks are to be accepted on the basis of the colour bandings and risk
ratings. In terms of evaluation of effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used to present how well the agreed controls are operating
within the following classifications:

RAG Score

CRITICAL
(15-25)

CHALLENGING
(8-12)

MANAGEABLE
(1-6)

Progress

Risk Assessment

 There may be significant gaps in controls to
ensure effective management.
 Controls are in place but insufficient
resources
 Controls are in place but external forces
may be preventing progress.

 There are insufficient controls in place to address the
cause or source of the risk
 Controls are considered insubstantial or ineffective
 Controls are being implemented but are not yet in place
 If this risk were to materialise, the situation could be
irrecoverable in terms of the Clinical Commissioning
Groups reputational/financial well-being and or service
continuity.

Progress is being made but there is concern
that the objective may not be achieved.
Additional controls or management action is
being taken to improve the likelihood of
success.

There are few controls in place, which are considered
substantial and/or effective and address the cause of the
risk. The consequences of the risk materialising, though
severe, can be managed to some extent via contingency
plans.

Progress is being made in accordance with
plans. There are no significant concerns.

The risk is considered to be small and there are sufficient
controls in place which address or substantially effective
the cause of the risk. The consequences of the risk
materialising can be managed via contingency plans.
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Revising Risk Ratings

If controls are inadequate then the revised risk rating
increases

If controls are uncertain, the revised risk rating stays the
same as the original risk rating

If they are perceived as adequate, then the revised risk
rating decreases

None of the principal risks relate to compliance with the Clinical Commissioning Group
licence. In addition, the Governing Body reviews the GBAF at each of its meetings thus
ensuring a high degree and rigour over the Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance.
Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of Resources
My review was informed in a number of ways:


Chief Officers within the organisation who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the system of internal control provided me with assurance



The GBAF itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been
reviewed



The work of Governing Body committees, particularly the Audit Committee, which
scrutinises and challenges governance and risk activities and seeks assurances on
the effectiveness of controls



The Clinical Executive Committee, as a committee of the Governing Body, provides
strategic clinical leadership, expertise and advice whilst ensuring effective clinical
engagement, utilising clinician’s knowledge of local communities and public and
patient involvement



The work of the Chief Nursing Officers team in carrying out quality visits,
inspections and monitoring provider serious incidents and risks



Contract meetings with providers which hold them to account for the quality of the
services commissioned



The Health & Safety Committee reviews health & safety risks and ensures the
health & safety of the workforce and any persons working or visiting the premises



The Information Governance Committee reviews information governance risks and
issues, including data losses, IT security, the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998 and progress with the IG Toolkit
assessment, action plan and submission. The latter also monitored by the Audit
Committee.



The work of regulatory bodies such as Monitor and the Care Quality Commission their inspection reports provided assurance on the quality and governance of our
provider organisations and services and help triangulate local information.
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The work of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist.



The Serious Incident (SI) process for reporting and investigating serious incidents
and robust monitoring of action plans to ensure recommendations are put into
practice and risk mitigated.



Internal Audit provides an independent, objective opinion on the degree to which
governance and risk management supports the achievement of the organisation’s
objectives. The Head of Internal Audit, in accordance with NHS Internal Audit
Standards, was required to provide an annual opinion of the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control, covering the whole
financial year. For 2014-15 the opinion stated that reasonable assurance could be
given, as a generally sound system of internal control is in place, designed to meet
the organisation’s objectives, and controls are generally being applied consistently
and effectively, with only minor areas for improvement identified.



Within the Clinical Commissioning Group information risk management forms part
of the wider information governance agenda. Ultimate responsibility rests with me
as Chief Officer and I am supported by the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO),
a member of the Governing Body. The SIRO in turn is supported on a daily basis by
the Information Governance Manager who has responsibility for following up on
issues in this area.



An Information Governance Group, chaired by the SIRO and attended by staff from
all areas, meets every other month. This group discusses all information related
issues and makes recommendations of actions to address them. The group
provides updates into the Audit Committee on a regular basis.



To support this, the Clinical Commissioning Group has approved a number of
polices including Information Governance Policy, IT Security Policy and a Data
Protection Policy, which guide staff on their responsibilities.

Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management & Internal Control
As Accounting Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group.
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Capacity to Handle Risk
All actions contain inherent risks and risk management is central to the effective running of
any organisation. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore ensures that decisions
made on behalf of the organisation are taken with due consideration to the management
of risks.
To achieve this, the Governing Body must be confident that the systems, policies and
people it has put in place are operating in a way that is effective, are focused on key risks
and driving the delivery of the organisations objectives. The Governing Body must also
demonstrate that it has been properly informed, through evidence from the Governing
Body Assurance Framework (GBAF), that it is aware of the totality of risk facing the
organisation, and that it has made decisions on the management of that risk based on all
of the available evidence. The Clinical Commissioning Group’s risk and control
mechanism is described diagrammatically below:
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The GBAF is built around the Risk Register and from which the relevant strategic risks are
drawn. Whilst appropriately rated strategic risks will automatically migrate to the GBAF,
the Governing Body, with additional oversight provided by the Audit Committee,
determines whether or not any other risks from the Risk Register should be transferred to
the GBAF even if they have a RAG score of below 15 but are considered strategically
significant.
Incident and risk reporting is actively encouraged across the Clinical Commissioning
Group and relevant reports are recorded on an integrated risk reporting system called
‘Sentinel’, this being managed within the Chief Corporate Services Officer’s department.
As a working document, the GBAF is updated monthly by the Chief Officers and reviewed
by the Governing Body, the Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the Audit Committee at each
of their meetings, the former in public.
Risks arising from the Clinical Commissioning Group’s daily operations can result in less
than optimum quality of service, financial loss, disruption of normal operations, accidents
and injuries or adverse publicity. The likelihood of these events occurring and the potential
extent of their impact depend on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s practices, processes
and culture as well as external influences.
A key aim of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s risk management arrangements is the
continued reduction of risk through the greater understanding and involvement of staff at
all levels of the organisation. In order to support this, anybody who identifies a potential or
actual risk can report their concerns directly to their line manager, a Chief Officer or the
Information Governance and Risk Manager by submitting a completed Risk Report Form;
indeed all employees have a duty to do so.
Review of Effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports.
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The Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness
of controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles
objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control by the Governing Body and the Audit Committee and a plan
to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded
that:

27

Head of Internal Audit Opinion on the Effectiveness of the System of Internal Control
for the Year Ended 31 March 2015
The purpose of my annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the Accountable
Officer and the Board which underpin the Board’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s
system of internal control. This Opinion will in turn assist the Board in the completion of its AGS.
My opinion is set out as follows:
1. Overall opinion;
2. Basis for the opinion; and
3. Commentary.
My overall opinion is that
o

Reasonable Assurance - Based upon the issues identified there is a series of internal controls in
place, however these could be strengthened to facilitate the organisation's management of risks to
the continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the process. Improvements are
required to enhance the controls to mitigate these risks;

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework and
supporting processes; and
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments
contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the year. This
assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of these areas and management’s progress
in respect of addressing control weaknesses.
Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally but are not required for
Department of Health purposes e.g. any reliance that is being placed upon Third Party Assurances.
N Abbott
Head of Internal Audit
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Assurance Assessments 2014/15

System

Substantial
Assurance

Reasonable
Assurance
√

1401 Complaints

√

1403 Monitoring Quality of Service




√

1402 QIPP

Limited
Assurance



1405 IT Support Contracts

√



1406 Business Continuity Planning

√



1407 GP Payments – Conflict of Interest

√


√

1408 Individual Funding Requests



1409 S136 Mental Health

√



1410 Financial Systems

√


√

1411 Data Protection and Data Security
1412 Commissioning – Major Contracts



√
√

1413 Payroll




√

1414 Continuing Healthcare Re-Audit
1415 Commissioning – Minor Contracts

√



√

1416 Associate Commissioning



1417 Safeguarding – Vulnerable Adults

√*



1419 Information Governance Tool-kit

√



1420 New Healthcare Services

√



1421 Monitoring CQC

√*



1422 BAF & Risk Management

√



1423 Clinical Governance Overview

√*



NB: *Assurance levels agreed but awaiting Chief Officer sign off.
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No
Assurance

Significant Issues identified during 2014/15

The findings of all audit reports issued to date from the Annual Plan, as well as progress against any
outstanding at this time, have been reported to the Audit Committee through interim reports during the year.
The major issues, or themes, that emerged from the internal audit work are set out below.
Continuing Healthcare – The key issues raised were:


The reporting of Continuing Healthcare key performance indicators is well embedded into
management and governance arrangements..



Both the CHC Team and Finance have a better idea as to what needs to be done to meet service
objectives, and there is an action plan in place to address the on-going difficulties in meeting
performance targets, but progress has been slow.



Data cleansing exercises taking place need to be completed as soon as possible to ensure that
greater reliance can be placed on both activity and financial reports produced.



Recommendations have been made to enhance reporting and management controls within the CHC
Team. Control improvements for authorisation controls and separation of duties have also been
recommended.

Complaints – The key issues raised were:


the complaints monitoring spread-sheet be reviewed to ensure accuracy of dates complaints
received for monitoring purposes;



The complaints quarterly report be reintroduced and provided to all departments to ensure that
learning from complaints can be provided to the whole CCG



action plans for improvement need to be formulated for each complaint which are then
communicated to the appropriate officer and monitored centrally to ensure implementation

Information Governance (IG) Review - Additional evidence is required ahead of the toolkit submission to
support six of the ten of the requirements in the audit sample.
Commissioning – Minor Contracts – our audit identified issues around the following areas:
 There is a contract register in place with the Contracts Team although this does not include details of
all contracts. The CCGs would benefit from having one contracts register rather than separate ones
in the Contracts and Finance teams.
 There is not always a signed contract in place for contracts although this position is known by the
CCG and efforts are being made to resolve this.
Payroll - The system for checking accuracy of pay information did not include data directly downloaded from
ESR - improvements are being made to rectify this issue
Data Protection/Data Security – The main issues arising from this review was that:


IT access control could be strengthened, as issues arose in respect of smartcard and S: drive
access.



Incidents are not being logged, although it is understood there have been no major incidents.

Tendering Process for New Healthcare Services – The Commissioning Procurement Policy needs
updating and approval.
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During the year the Internal Audit issued the following audit reports with a conclusion of limited assurance:


Continuing Healthcare (Re-audit)

The agreed action plan resulting from this audit is below:

Rec.

8

Risk Area

Operational

Finding

Recommendation

Data within the Broadcare system is being The data cleansing exercise be
examined to ensure that it is accurate and completed in advance of the
that all archived data is marked year-end.
appropriately. As part of this process, the
Finance Team have identified 9,401 records
where there has been no payment, accruals
or provision made (termed 'inactive'). In the
majority of cases, the records should have
been archived, but the necessary record
entry had not been made (due to a lack of
understanding of how the system worked).
From a review of the latest spread-sheet
maintained by the Head of Accounting and
Control, the total number to be investigated
amounts to 1,632 records where no
payments have been made.
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Priority

1

Management

Implementation

Responsible

Comments

Timetable

Officer

(dd/mm/yy)

(Job Title)

31/03/15

Head
of
Accounting &
Control and

To be completed by 31
2015.

st

March

Business
Support
Manager

Rec.

2

Risk Area

Directed

Finding

The CHC team structure is currently being
reviewed to address the capacity issues and
to focus on the separate elements of CHC
referrals. From a review of a report entitled
'Broadcare per person' in October, cases
open range from 108 to 11. The 108 cases
are listed against 'unknown/not set'. From a
discussion with the Business Support
Manager, cases per individual are being
reviewed, including those unallocated. The
team are looking at a different way of
working which will enable the allocation of
the work to be done by Senior Clinical CoOrdinators, rather than automatically
according to area. In the meantime, the
Business Support Manager is reviewing
case allocation data and amending as
necessary. Evidence of lists being worked
was provided as evidence.

Recommendation

The allocation of cases data is
reviewed for accuracy and
completeness. Regular case
load
reports
should
be
produced so that there is
proactive management of case
load to ensure that there is a
more equal distribution of
cases.
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Priority

2

Management

Implementation

Comments

Timetable

Officer

(dd/mm/yy)

(Job Title)

Case data is being worked on at
present and the report will be re-run
to ensure that ‘unknown’ cases
responsibility is cleared.
In terms of the using this report in
future, its value will be reviewed
against
other
performance
information requirements. This can
only be done once the back-log
position has been reduced to a
manageable position.

28/02/15

Responsible

Business
Support
Manager

Rec.

Risk Area

Finding

Recommendation

Priority

Management

Implementation

Comments

Timetable

Responsible
Officer

(dd/mm/yy)

(Job Title)

3

Compliance

Within the Suffolk CCGs, unless there is an
appeal, CHC approvals are undertaken by a
CHC Nurse (not a panel). This means that
the initial approval of CHC funding is with
one individual and therefore, given the
amount of funding being committed,
presents a high level of authority. The
Assistant Management Accountant is
currently reviewing these arrangements and
has
designed
an
Individual
Case
Assessment (ICA) form which ensures that
authorisation of the care package is
communicated to the provider. The new
form highlights where there are additional
costs (such as 1:1) and requires separate
approval at a higher level.

Authorisation processes for
packages be reviewed against
authority levels within the
Detailed Financial Policies.
Finance should be informed of
the decision to approve but the
authorisation
to
commit
expenditure from the CHC
budget
should
be
with
clinicians
and
senior
management
within
that
department depending on the
amount of funding required.

2

Agreed. Authorisation levels and
the draft ICA Form will be reviewed.
The Detailed Financial Policies is
being reviewed and will be updated
as necessary.

28/02/15

Head
of
Accounting &
Control.

4

Compliance

On two occasions out of the ten sample files Staff be reminded that consent
selected there was no completed consent forms should be retained on
form on file.
file.

2

Staff will be reminded at the team
meeting and Consent Policy will be
re-distributed.

31/01/15

Senior Nurse
Co-ordinator

5

Compliance

Invoices are authorised within the Finance
department following checks on the
Broadcare system to ensure that the details
provided are in line with the named patient,
provider and rate of charge. A review of a
sample of invoices paid confirmed invoice
details matched those within Broadcare. The
system is that another member of staff
within Finance codes up the invoice and this
is signed off by the Head of Accounting and
Finance.

2

Due to capacity issues within the
CHC team, a member of the
Finance team sets up the care
package for the time being. This
person does not normally process
invoices but it is recognised that
this function should be done by the
CHC team.

31/03/2015

Head
of
Accounting &
Control and
Senior Nurse
Co-ordinators

The person inputting and
setting up care packages (i.e.
the supplier) should not also be
involved in the processing of
invoices.
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Rec.

Risk Area

Finding

Recommendation

Priority

Management

Implementation

Comments

Timetable

Officer

(dd/mm/yy)

(Job Title)

6

Compliance

From discussion with the Business Support
Manager, it was found that no exception
reports have been produced to-date for 3
monthly reviews, although clinicians can
interrogate the Broadcare system as to
when the reviews are due. From the sample
selected for audit, four cases had review
dates entered but were not done, and two
cases did not have a review date input.

An
exception
report
is
introduced to show: all cases
where CHC funding has been
approved and no review date
entered; and also where review
dates have been exceeded for
3 and 12 months.

2

Reports have been run to show
where review dates have been
omitted and where the review dates
have been exceeded. Records with
no review dates are being
investigated.

28/02/15

7

Compliance

The Governing Body and Clinical Scrutiny
Committees receive detailed performance
information on CHC. The Performance
Reports include actions being taken to
retrospective cases, but so far a trajectory
for
addressing
the
back-log
and
retrospective cases have not been produced
for the Committees.

The retrospective and back-log
trajectory is presented to the
Clinical Scrutiny Committee to
demonstrate a clear and
agreed plan for clearing these
cases.

2

This needs to be done as part of
the business planning process. The
Retrospective cases are being
tracked but individual cases are
taking a long time and therefore the
whole process needs a further
review.
The back-log cases
trajectory
has
already
been
presented to the CHC Project
Board (Workstream).

Retrospective
Cases
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Responsible

Business
Support
Manager

Senior Nurse
Co-Ordinator

28/02/15

CHC Lead

Rec.

9

1

Risk Area

Operational

Directed

Finding

Recommendation

From a review of reports produced either at
the weekly QIPP meeting or as part of the
Monthly CHC Dashboard report, it is difficult
to see how one set of Finance information
relates and reconciles to Case Management
statistics provided. Reports would benefit
from having overall control totals and
therefore how those figures reported can be
reconciled to the total number of records in
the system. There also needs to be a
greater collaborative approach in producing
reports so that there is a shared knowledge
and understanding as to where the figures
come from.

Dashboard reports include
system control totals so that it
can be seen how those
reported on reconcile back to
the overall records on the
system.

A specific CHC Policy has not been
implemented since the last Internal Audit
review. There is a draft Choice Policy which
covers 3 and 12 month assessments,
however, it does not set any limit on
assessment times.

The CCGs produce a specific
CHC Policy which includes the
CCGs' view regarding the 28
day target for assessments.

Priority

2

Management

Implementation

Comments

Timetable

Officer

(dd/mm/yy)

(Job Title)

31/03/15

Head
of
Accounting &
Control/
Business
Support
Manager

Reports will be reviewed to ensure
that reporting of information is
consistent and totals agreed.

Training is being put in place for all
clinicians.

The CHC Administrator works
with the Finance staff to share
knowledge of the system and
the different reports that can be
produced.

Business
Support
Manager

The quality of data input will be
monitored, with additional training
given where necessary.

3

This was delayed due to the long
term absence of the CHC Lead.
The Equity and Choice Policy was
reviewed by the Executives and
ratified with a few amendments.
The
Operational
Policy
is
scheduled for approval and has
been placed on execs programmed
th
agenda for WSCCG 4 Feb 2015
th
and I & E SCCG on 10 Feb 2015:

During the year the Internal Audit issued no audit reports with a conclusion of no assurance.
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Responsible

10/2/15

CHC Lead

Data Quality
Both the Governing Body and Clinical Scrutiny Committee regularly receive an Integrated
Performance report that contains large volumes of data. The report provides members
with a summary of performance for against national targets, contractual targets, clinical
quality and patient safety issues, financial position and acute activity.

The data is

presented as an executive dashboard and then drills down into considerable detail to
ensure the Governing Body and Clinical Scrutiny Committee are well informed and enable
to make appropriate decisions.
The Governing Body and Clinical Scrutiny Committee invest considerable amounts of time
at meetings reviewing the contents of the Integrated Performance report and consider that
the quality of data available is acceptable for their requirements.
Business Critical Models
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of
business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report.
Quality assurance is vital to ensure that business critical models are robust. The Clinical
Commissioning Group ensures as part of its quality assurance that the appropriate
governance is applied to its business critical models and that NHS quality assurance
guidelines and checklists are also applied.
Data Security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance
toolkit assessment.
There were no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches.
Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group
and explained within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with
extensive expert external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation.
That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing
Body decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that
36

the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated
with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on
delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
Conclusion
One significant internal control issue has been identified in the Governance Statement of
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group in relation to NHS Continuing Healthcare.
The Clinical Commissioning Group is in breach of the NHS Continuing Healthcare (CHC)
Framework target for the assessment of CHC claims.

The framework target for

assessment of CHC claims is 28 days. The Clinical Commissioning Group continues to
fall short of achieving its Continuing Healthcare assessment target of 28 days and action
plans to address this target and reduce back-log/retrospective cases have taken longer
than planned. Controls within the IT system also needed to be improved to reduce data
quality issues and provide greater assurance on the quality of information provided. The
Governance Statement includes the detailed action plan agreed with our Internal Auditors
after the CHC audit they performed during the year.
The Governance Statement also highlights the Clinical Commissioning Group’s key
strategic risks that include the risk of failure to achieve financial balance, failures in
respect of MRSA and clostridium difficile and the risk to patient safety and experience
from failing to meet the four hour Accident and Emergency standard.

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer
20 May 2015
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1

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WEST SUFFOLK CCG
We have audited the financial statements of West Suffolk CCG for the year ended 31 March
2015 under the Audit Commission Act 1998 (as saved transitionally for the purposes of the
2014/15 audit of accounts). The financial statements comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 21.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law
and the accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of
the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England.
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit,
being:




the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative
notes on page 44 of Section 1 of the Annual Report and Accounts;
the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on
page 47 of Section 1 of the Annual Report and Accounts; and
the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on page 49 of Section 1 of
the Annual Report and Accounts.

This report is made solely to the members of West Suffolk CCG in accordance with Part II of
the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 44 of the
Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the Audit
Commission in March 2014. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the members as a body, for our audit work, for
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities set out on
page 1 of Section 2 of the Annual Report and Accounts, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK
and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s
Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment
of:
 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable
Officer; and
 the overall presentation of the financial statements.
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with,
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit.

If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider
the implications for our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that
the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:



give a true and fair view of the financial position of West Suffolk CCG as at 31 March
2015 and of its net operating costs for the year then ended; and
have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by
the NHS Commissioning Board with consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to
the National Health Service in England.

Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that
the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires
us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements having regard to relevant
criteria specified by the Audit Commission in October 2014.
We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding
that the CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in
October 2014, as to whether the CCG has proper arrangements for:



securing financial resilience; and
challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

The Audit Commission determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider
under its Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for
the year ended 31 March 2015.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Basis for qualified conclusion
In considering the CCG’s arrangements for challenging how it secures economy, efficiency
and effectiveness, we identified that the CCG has breached the 28 day assessment period
for a received claim as stipulated within the NHS Continuing Health Care Framework as a
result of a backlog of Continuing Health Care cases. 82% of claims do not meet this 28 day
assessment target. The current average claim assessment period for over 70% of cases is in
excess of 90 days.
Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published
by the Audit Commission in October 2014, with the exception of the matter reported in the
basis for qualified conclusion paragraph above, we are satisfied that, in all significant
respects, West Suffolk CCG put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2015.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of West Suffolk CCG in
accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit
Practice issued by the Audit Commission.

Mark Hodgson
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Cambridge

Date: 22 May 2015

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2014-15
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2015
Note
Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net operating expenditure before interest

4.1.1
5
2

2014-15
£000

2013-14
£000

9,405
278,418
(9,775)
278,048

7,880
271,847
(9,039)
270,688

Investment Revenue
Other (gains)/losses
Finance costs
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

0
0
0
278,048

0
0
0
270,688

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption
Total Net Expenditure for the year

0
278,048

0
270,688

4.1.1
5
2

7,173
4,145
(6,014)
5,304

7,333
4,269
(6,394)
5,208

4.1.1
5
2

2,232
274,273
(3,761)
272,744

547
267,578
(2,645)
265,480

Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net administration costs before interest
Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net programme expenditure before interest

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure

2014-15
£000

Impairments and reversals
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Movements in other reserves
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension schemes
Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures
Reclassification Adjustments
On disposal of available for sale financial assets
Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
278,048

The notes on pages 9 to 37 form part of this statement.

5

2013-14
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
270,688

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2014-15
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2015
31 March 2015
Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets

9

31 March 2014

£000

£000
343
0
0
0
0
343

14
0
0
0
0
14

0
2,648
0
0
78
2,726

0
3,385
0
0
156
3,541

0

0

Total current assets

2,726

3,541

Total assets

3,069

3,555

(15,143)
0
0
0
(892)
(16,035)

(15,581)
0
0
0
(1,807)
(17,388)

(12,966)

(13,833)

0
0
0
0
(1,463)
(1,463)

0
0
0
0
0
0

Assets less Liabilities

(14,429)

(13,833)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(14,429)
0
0
0
(14,429)

(13,833)
0
0
0
(13,833)

Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

10

11

Non-current assets held for sale

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

12

13

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

13

The notes on pages 9 to 37 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 5 to 37 were approved by the Governing Body on 20 May 2015 and signed on its behalf
by:

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer
20 May 2015
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West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2014-15
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2015
General
fund
£000

Revaluation
reserve
£000

Other
reserves
£000

Total
reserves
£000

(13,833)

0

0

(13,833)

0
(13,833)

0
0

0
0

0
(13,833)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Balance at 1 April 2014
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS
bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(278,048)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

(278,048)

0

0
0
0
0

0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2
0

(278,046)

0

0

(278,046)

Net funding

277,450

0

0

277,450

Balance at 31 March 2015

(14,429)

0

0

(14,429)

Revaluation
reserve
£000

Other
reserves
£000

0

0

0

0

15
15

0
0

0
0

15
15

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the
Financial Year

General
fund
£000

Total
reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Balance at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1
April 2013 transition
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2013
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Net operating costs for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve
Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the
Financial Year

(270,688)

(270,688)

0

0
0
0
0

0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(270,673)

0

0

(270,673)

Net funding

256,840

0

0

256,840

Balance at 31 March 2014

(13,833)

0

0

(13,833)

NOTE:
Under the NHS reforms that came into effect in April 2013, most of the material high value assets previously carried by Primary Care Trusts such as land
and buildings were transferred to non-CCG bodies, e.g. NHS Property Services Ltd. Consequently CCGs in general do not carry material non-current
assets on their balance sheets. Therefore net assets/liabilities equate to the difference between actual net operating costs incurred (accounted for on an
accruals basis) and the cash funding drawn down from NHS England to finance this expenditure.
The notes on pages 9 to 37 form part of this statement.
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West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2014-15
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2015
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
Other Gains & Losses
Finance Costs
Unwinding of Discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

9

10
12
13
13

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

11

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 9 to 37 form part of this statement.
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2014-15
£000

2013-14
£000

(278,048)
14
0
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
737
0
(438)
0
(552)
1,100
(277,185)

(270,688)
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(3,385)
0
15,581
0
(34)
1,841
(256,684)

0
(343)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(343)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(277,528)

(256,684)

277,450
0
0
0
0
0
277,450

256,840
0
0
0
0
0
256,840

(78)

156

156

0

0

0

78

156

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2014-15
Notes to the financial statements
1.

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Manual
for Accounts issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Manual for Accounts 2014-15 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow
International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Manual for Accounts permits a choice of
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning
group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006
the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled
budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
·
The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
·
The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;
·
The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the clinical commissioning
group recognises:
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.4

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

1.4.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of applying the
clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies.

1.4.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Estimates in respect of March 2015 actual prescribing costs were calculated using the Prescription Pricing Authority profile. The carrying amount
of the liability at the Statement of Financial Position date was £3.26m.
Significant provisions are included in the 2014-2015 accounts in respect of Continuing Healthcare. These provisions relate to backlog cases
(business as usual). The carrying amount of the liability at the Statement of Financial Position date was £2.36m. See Provisions Note 13 for
further details.

1.5

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.6

Employee Benefits

1.6.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The
scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in
the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability
for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme
assets and liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s accounts. The
assets are measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in the liability arising from
pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is
recognised within finance income. The interest cost during the year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is
recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the General Reserve and reported as an item of
other comprehensive net expenditure.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair
value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation,
which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
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1.8

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.8.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under
single managerial control; or,
·
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective
cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are
treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.8.2

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset
and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are
measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial
position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be
determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
·
Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·
Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it
would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value.
Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from fair value.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation
decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation
reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a
clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.8.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where
subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item
replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.9

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible noncurrent assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or
service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain
economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical
life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a
prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible noncurrent assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to
determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise
from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had
there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously
charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
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1.10

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as
a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are
operating or finance leases.

1.11

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.12

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·
Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%
·
Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%
·
Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%
·
All employee early departures: 1.30%
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features
to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which
are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.
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1.13

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the
NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS
Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.14

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular
claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.
Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.16

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·
Held to maturity investments;
·
Available for sale financial assets; and,
·
Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.16.1

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates
any interest earned on the financial asset.

1.16.2

Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.16.3

Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the
other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the
exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.

1.16.4

Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the
effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the
initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value
through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in
expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount
of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
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1.17

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.

1.17.1

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·
The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
·
The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.

1.17.2

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on
the financial liability.

1.17.3

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.

1.18

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.19

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums
then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.20

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2014-15, all of which
are subject to consultation:
·
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
·
IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
·
IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
·
IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2014-15, were they applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Patient transport services
Prescription fees and charges
Dental fees and charges
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2014-15
Total

2014-15
Admin

2014-15
Programme

2013-14
Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

30
0
0
0
187
0
87
0
0
8,699
0
0
0
772
9,775

30
0
0
0
187
0
0
0
0
5,025
0
0
0
772
6,014

0
0
0
0
0
0
87
0
0
3,674
0
0
0
0
3,761

16
0
200
0
0
0
47
0
0
7,795
0
0
0
981
9,039

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account
of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.
3. Revenue
2014-15
Total
£000
9,775
0
9,775

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2014-15
2014-15
Admin
Programme
£000
£000
6,014
3,761
0
0
6,014
3,761

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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2013-14
Total
£000
9,039
0
9,039
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2014-15

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Admin
Other
£000

Total
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Programme
Other
£000

Total
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Other
£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

7,897
576
835
0
0
0
97
9,405

6,517
576
835
0
0
0
97
8,025

1,380
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,380

5,969
462
645
0
0
0
97
7,173

5,121
462
645
0
0
0
97
6,325

848
0
0
0
0
0
0
848

1,928
114
190
0
0
0
0
2,232

1,396
114
190
0
0
0
0
1,700

532
0
0
0
0
0
0
532

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(30)
9,375

(30)
7,995

0
1,380

(30)
7,143

(30)
6,295

0
848

0
2,232

0
1,700

0
532

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
9,375

0
7,995

0
1,380

0
7,143

0
6,295

0
848

0
2,232

0
1,700

0
532

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2014-15
Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000
Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

(30)
0
0
0
0
0
0
(30)

Other
£000

(30)
0
0
0
0
0
0
(30)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

NOTE:
West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team that provides management support to both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the Management Delivery Team is shared between
both CCGs in the following proportion:
• Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 61.72%
• West Suffolk CCG 38.28%
The Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG share of these pay costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG accounts and not as employee benefits. Likewise the income from the charge
is shown as income from Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG in the West Suffolk CCG accounts and is not netted-off against employee benefits.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2013-14

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Admin
Other
£000

Total
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Programme
Other
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Other
£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

6,459
518
747
0
0
0
156
7,880

5,592
518
747
0
0
0
156
7,013

867
0
0
0
0
0
0
867

5,923
516
742
0
0
0
152
7,333

5,249
516
742
0
0
0
152
6,659

674
0
0
0
0
0
0
674

536
2
5
0
0
0
4
547

343
2
5
0
0
0
4
354

193
0
0
0
0
0
0
193

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(16)
7,864

(16)
6,997

0
867

0
7,333

0
6,659

0
674

(16)
531

(16)
338

0
193

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
7,864

0
6,997

0
867

0
7,333

0
6,659

0
674

0
531

0
338

0
193

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2013-14
Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000
Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

(10)
(1)
(1)
0
0
0
0
(12)

Other
£000

(10)
(1)
(1)
0
0
0
0
(12)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2014-15
Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number
Total

2013-14
Other
Number

Total
Number

176.9

167.1

9.8

158.0

0

0

0

0

Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

2014-15
Number
622
163
4

2013-14
Number
434
144
3

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

2014-15
Number
0

2013-14
Number
0

£000
0

£000
0

Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged
on capital projects

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year

Where the clinical commissioning group has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by the clinical commissioning group and not by the NHS
Pension Scheme, and are included in the tables. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included in the tables.
4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2014-15
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
0
0
2
34,340
1
32,699
1
75,252
0
0
0
0
0
0
4
142,291

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

Departures where special
payments have been made
Number
£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2014-15
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
3
46,265
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
46,265

2014-15
Total
Number
0
5
1
1
0
0
0
7

£
0
80,605
32,699
75,252
0
0
0
188,556

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval*
Total**

Other agreed departures
Number
£
1
19739
0
0
0
0
2
26,526
0
0
0
0
3
46,265

* Includes any non-contractual severance payments made following judicial mediation.
** As a single exit package can be made up of several components each of which will be counted separately in this table, the total number will not necessarily
match the total number in the table above, which will be the number of individuals.
These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been
recognised in part or in full in a previous period.
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the Agenda for Change terms and conditions.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
No non-contractual payments were made to individuals where the payment value was more than 12 months’ of their annual salary.

The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these
provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit
scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and
Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the Clinical
Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting
period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an
actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current
reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme
liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2014, updated to 31 March 2015 with summary global member and
accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the
discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions
website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into account its
recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.

The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and
consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
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4.5 Pension costs
c) Scheme provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, and is not
intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these benefits can be
obtained:
The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best of the last
three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year of membership.
Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable
earnings over the relevant pensionable service.
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump sum, up to a
maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension commutation”.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in
retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI)
has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their
duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times
their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of
the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s approved
providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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5. Operating expenses
2014-15
Total
£000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Inventories written down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
·
Assets carried at amortised cost
·
Assets carried at cost
·
Available for sale financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment properties
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
General dental services and personal dental services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Grants to other public bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses

2014-15
Admin
£000

2013-14
Total
£000

8,590
815
9,405

6,358
815
7,173

2,232
0
2,232

7,077
803
7,880

871
167,201
12,676
0
51,416
418
872
157
400
3,210
0
508
0
0
14
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
78

77
13
2
0
0
418
0
157
323
1,622
0
623
0
0
14
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
78

794
167,188
12,674
0
51,416
0
872
0
77
1,588
0
(115)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

974
166,311
12,701
429
44,459
584
683
159
468
4,036
0
346
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
79

0
0
0
37,628
0
0
677
544
0
7
0
246
0
1,071
395
29
278,418

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
544
0
7
0
238
0
0
0
29
4,145

0
0
0
37,628
0
0
677
0
0
0
0
8
0
1,071
395
0
274,273

0
0
0
37,899
0
0
830
106
0
7
0
90
0
1,685
0
0
271,847

287,823

11,318

276,505

279,727

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2014-15
Number

2014-15
£000

2013-14
Number

2013-14
£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

9,463
9,146
96.65%

78,567
76,542
97.42%

7,724
7,129
92.30%

52,597
48,513
92.24%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2,304
2,241
97.27%

193,400
191,314
98.92%

2,017
1,876
93.01%

191,177
185,798
97.19%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid
invoice, whichever is later.

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

2014-15
£000

Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation
Total

2013-14
£000
0
0
0

0
0
0

7. Other gains and losses
2014-15
£000
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment assets other than by sale
Gain/(loss) on disposal of intangible assets other than by sale
Gain/(loss) on disposal of financial assets other than held for sale
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets held for sale
Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange
Change in fair value of financial assets carried at fair value through the
statement of comprehensive net expenditure
Change in fair value of financial liabilities carried at fair value through the
statement of comprehensive net expenditure
Change in fair value of investment property
Recycling of gain/(loss) from equity on disposal of financial assets held for sale
Total
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2013-14
£000
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
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8. Operating Leases
8.1 As lessee
The clinical commissioning group occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited. For 2014-15, the clinical
commissioning group received a rebate for subsidised property costs and a charge for void property costs in respect of properties occupied by
Community Services providers.
Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years has not
yet been agreed. Consequently this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.
8.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Land
£000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

Buildings
£000
0
0
0
0

2014-15
Total
£000

Other
£000

329
0
0
329

43
0
0
43

8.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Land
£000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Buildings
£000
0
0
0
0

23

372
0
0
372

2014-15
Total
£000

Other
£000
0
0
0
0

2013-14
Total
£000

13
10
0
23

143
0
0
143

2013-14
Total
£000
13
10
0
23

0
0
0
0
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9. Property, plant and equipment

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2014

Information
technology
£000
0

Furniture &
fittings
£000
15

Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation At 31 March 2015

84
84

259
274

343
358

Depreciation 1 April 2014

0

1

1

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2015

6
6

8
9

14
15

Net Book Value at 31 March 2015

78

265

343

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2015

78
78

265
265

343
343

Owned

79

264

343

Total at 31 March 2015

79

264

343

2014-15

Total
£000
15

Asset financing:

2013-14
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013
transition
Adjusted Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013

Cost/Valuation At 31 March 2014

Furniture &
fittings
£000
0
15
15

Total
£000
0
15
15

15

15

Depreciation 1 April 2013

0

0

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2014

1
1

1
1

Net Book Value at 31 March 2014

14

14

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2014

14
14

14
14

Owned

14

14

Total at 31 March 2014

14

14

Minimum
Life (years)
2
5

Maximum
Life (Years)
5
15

Asset financing:

9.1 Economic lives

Information technology
Furniture & fittings
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10. Trade and other receivables

Current
2014-15
£000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments and accrued income
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS receivables: Capital
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Private finance initiative and other public private partnership
arrangement prepayments and accrued income

Non-current
2014-15
£000

Current
2013-14
£000

Non-current
2013-14
£000

911
0
874
670
0
101
0
36

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2,532
0
0
649
0
200
0
3

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0

0

Interest receivables
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables
Total Trade & other receivables

0
0
0
56
2,648

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
1
3,385

0
0
0
0
0

Total current and non current

2,648

3,385

0

0

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

The great majority of trade is with NHS bodies and Local Authorities therefore no credit scoring is considered necessary.
10.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2014-15
£000

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2013-14
£000
40
0
47
87

336
0
0
336

£39k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2015.
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11. Cash and cash equivalents
2014-15
£000
156
(78)
78

Balance at 1 April 2014
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2015
Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts
Balance at 31 March 2015
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2013-14
£000
0
156
156

78
0
0
0
78

155
0
1
0
156

0
0
0

0
0
0

78

156
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12. Trade and other payables

Current
2014-15
£000

Interest payable
NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS payables: capital
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables
Total Trade & Other Payables

0
3,306
0
267
823
0
10,240
122
0
129
0
256
15,143

Total current and non-current

15,143

Non-current
2014-15
£000

Current
2013-14
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Non-current
2013-14
£000

0
4,081
0
0
1,722
0
9,383
106
0
113
0
176
15,581
15,581

Included above are liabilities of £Nil due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5
years.
Other payables include £176k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2015 (£153k 2013-14).
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0
0
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13. Provisions
Current
2014-15
£000
Redundancy
Continuing care
Total
Total current and non-current

Non-current
2014-15
£000
30
862
892

2,355
Redundancy
£000s

Balance at 1 April 2014
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Balance at 31 March 2015
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2015

0
1,463
1,463

Current
2013-14
£000
122
1,685
1,807

Non-current
2013-14
£000
0
0
0

1,807
Continuing
Care
£000s

Total
£000s

122

1,685

1,807

55
(121)
(26)
0
0
0
30

2,186
(431)
(1,115)
0
0
0
2,325

2,241
(552)
(1,141)
0
0
0
2,355

30
0
0
30

862
1,463
0
2,325

892
1,463
0
2,355

The Continuing Care provision consists of the likely costs associated with the backlog of business as usual cases still to be assessed as at 31 March
2015. The provision has been calculated on a case by case basis using both average weekly costs and conversion rates.
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS
Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the clinical commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains
with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2015 is
£3,061k.
£Nil is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority as at 31 March 2015 in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
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14. Financial instruments
14.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk
faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of
listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or
invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change
the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by
the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.
14.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
14.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
14.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
14.1.3 Liquidity risk

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources
voted annually by Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS
Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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14. Financial instruments cont'd
14.2 Financial assets

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2014-15
£000

Loans and
Receivables
2014-15
£000

Available for
Sale
2014-15
£000

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

911
670
78
57
1,716

0
0
0
0
0

911
670
78
57
1,716

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2013-14
£000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015

Loans and
Receivables
2013-14
£000

Available for
Sale
2013-14
£000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

2,532
649
156
0
3,337

0
0
0
0
0

2,532
649
156
0
3,337

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2014-15
£000

30

Other
2014-15
£000

Total
2014-15
£000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

3,573
11,319
0
0
0
14,892

3,573
11,319
0
0
0
14,892

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2013-14
£000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2015

Total
2013-14
£000

0

14.3 Financial liabilities

Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2015

Total
2014-15
£000

Other
2013-14
£000

Total
2013-14
£000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

4,081
11,281
0
0
0
15,362

4,081
11,281
0
0
0
15,362
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15. Operating segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group consider they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has income totalling £9,775K from external customers. Two customers generated income greater than
10% of the total sum - NHS England (£1,452k) and NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG (£6,132k). The majority of this income is derived
from the hosting arrangements.
16. Pooled budgets
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled funding arrangement under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, in which the
Clinical Commissioning Group made a total contribution of £465,307 (2013-14 - £487,350). This is a jointly controlled operation under IAS
31.
The pool is hosted by Suffolk County Council. As a commissioner of healthcare services, the Clinical Commissioning Group makes
contributions to the pool, which are then used to purchase Mental Health services.
The memorandum account produced by Suffolk County Council shows total income of £3,681,509 (2013-14 - £3,854,790) and total
expenditure of £3,581,812 (2013-14 - £3,838,906). This leaves a surplus of £99,697 (2013-14 - £15,884) as at 31 March 2015.
The CCG's share of this surplus is £12,601 (2013-14 - £2,008).
17. Intra-government and other balances

Balances with:
·
Other Central Government bodies
·
Local Authorities
Balances with NHS bodies:
·
NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·
NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·
·

Public corporations and trading funds
Bodies external to Government

Total balances at 31 March 2015

Balances with:
·
Other Central Government bodies
·
Local Authorities
Balances with NHS bodies:
·
NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·
NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·
·

Public corporations and trading funds
Bodies external to Government

Total balances at 31 March 2014

31

Current
Receivables
2014-15
£000

Non-current
Receivables
2014-15
£000

Current
Payables
2014-15
£000

182
357

0
0

82
121

0
0

801
983
1,784

0
0
0

1,579
1,994
3,573

0
0
0

0
325

0
0

0
11,367

0
0

2,648

0

15,143

0

Current
Receivables
2013-14
£000

Non-current
Receivables
2013-14
£000

75
288

0
0

510
113

0
0

2,293
239
2,532

0
0
0

1,793
2,288
4,081

0
0
0

0
490

0
0

0
10,877

0
0

3,385

0

15,581

0

Current
Payables
2014-15
£000

Non-current
Payables
2014-15
£000

Non-current
Payables
2014-15
£000

West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2014-15
18. Related party transactions (2014-15)
West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across three localities; one secondary care lead; two lay
members responsible for patient and public engagement and governance and seven chief officers. Seven of the GPs on the
governing body are Partners in Practices that supply general or personal medical services commissioned by West Suffolk CCG.
The value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of payments for local enhanced
services supplied under contract to the CCG.
2014/15
Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from
owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party
£000
£000
£000
8
0
11
96
0
0
142
0
0
54
0
0
54
0
3
69
0
5
105
0
1

Name of Related Party
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Emma Derbyshire - Partner - Swan Surgery
Dr Rakesh Raja - Partner - Hardwicke House Group Practice
Dr Simon Arthur - Partner - Oakfield Surgery
Dr Andrew Yager - Partner - Botesdale Health Centre
Dr Giles Stevens - Partner - Christmas Maltings Surgery
Dr Daniel Knowles - Partner - Rookery Medical Centre

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Dr Rosalind Tandy is also a governing body member but is employed as a salaried GP by The Christmas Maltings Surgery. Dr
Catherine Firth, the spouse of Dr Rakesh Raja, is a salaried GP at the Hardwick House Group Practice.

Dr Christopher Browning provided services to Harmoni HS Ltd and Care UK (Urgent Care) Ltd acting as their Clinical Lead for Out
of Hours Services supplied under contract to West Suffolk CCG. The CCGs transactions with Harmoni HS Ltd were as follows:2014/15
Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from
owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party
£000
£000
£000
253
0
0
2,810
0
31

Name of Related Party
Harmoni HS Ltd
Care UK (Urgent Care) Ltd

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0

Dr Rakesh Raja is a director and shareholder of the Sudbury Healthcare Partnership Ltd, which provides community ultrasound
services to West Suffolk CCG. The CCGs transactions with Sudbury Healthcare Partnership Ltd were as follows:2014/15
Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from
owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party
£000
£000
£000
13
0
0

Name of Related Party
Sudbury Health Partnership
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Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
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18. Related party transactions (2014-15 continued)
Peter Knights is a governing body member and also the Business Partner and Practice Manager at Mount Farm Surgery. David
Cripps is a governing body member and also the Practice Manager at Hardwicke House Group Practice. The CCG's transactions
with Mount Farm Surgery and Hardwicke House Group Practice were as follows:2014/15
Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from
owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party
£000
£000
£000
31
0
0
142
0
0

Name of Related Party
Peter Knights - Mount Farm Surgery
David Cripps - Hardwick House Group Practice

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk CCG has had a significant number of
material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value
of transactions exceeded £250,000 are listed below:2014/15 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Colchester University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
East of England Ambulance NHS Trust
Guys St Thomas NHS Foundation Trust
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust
Mid Essex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Business Services Authority
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG
NHS England
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
Norfolk and Norwich University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk Community Health and Care Trust
North Essex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust
University College London NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and
local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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18. Related party transactions (2013-14)
West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across three localities; one secondary care lead; two lay members
responsible for patient and public engagement and governance and seven chief officers. Seven of the GPs on the governing body are
Partners in Practices that supply general or personal medical services commissioned by West Suffolk CCG. The value of transactions
with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of payments for local enhanced services supplied under contract to
the CCG.
Payments to
Related
Party

Name of Related Party

£000
19
104
18
82
66
44
20

Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Emma Derbyshire - Partner - Swan Surgery
Dr Jonathan Ferdinand - Partner - Wickhambrook Surgery
Dr Rakesh Raja - Partner - Hardwicke House Group Practice
Dr Nicholas Simon Arthur - Partner - Oakfield Surgery
Dr Andrew Yager - Partner - Botesdale Health Centre
Dr Giles Stevens - Partner - Christmas Maltings Surgery

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
1
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
3
0

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
1
0

Dr Rosalind Tandy is also a governing body member but is employed as a salaried GP by The Christmas Maltings Surgery. Dr Catherine
Firth, the spouse of Dr Rakesh Raja, is a salaried GP at the Hardwick House Group Practice.

Dr Christopher Browning provides services to Harmoni HS Ltd, acting as their Clinical Lead for Out of Hours Services supplied under
contract to West Suffolk CCG. The CCGs transactions with Harmoni HS Ltd were as follows:Payments to
Related
Party

Name of Related Party

£000
3181

Harmoni HS Ltd

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
64

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
1

Dr Rakesh Raja is a director and shareholder of the Sudbury Health Partnership, which provides community ultrasound services to West
Suffolk CCG. The CCGs transactions with Sudbury Health Partnership were as follows:-

Payments to
Related
Party

Name of Related Party

£000
42

Sudbury Health Partnership
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Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
4

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
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18. Related party transactions (2013-14 continued)
Bill Banks is a governing body member, Vice Chair of the CCG and Lay Member for Governance. Bill is also a member of the Audit and
Risk Committee of University Campus Suffolk. The CCGs transactions with University Campus Suffolk were as follows:Payments to
Related
Party

Name of Related Party

£000
0

University Campus Suffolk

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
7

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
0

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
7

Peter Knights is a governing body member and also the Business Partner and Practice Manager at Mount Farm Surgery. David Cripps is a
governing body member and also the Practice Manager at Hardwicke House Group Practice. The CCG's transactions with Mount Farm
Surgery and Hardwicke House Group Practice were as follows:Payments to
Related
Party

Name of Related Party

£000
57
82

Peter Knights - Mount Farm Surgery
David Cripps - Hardwick House Group Practice

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
0
0

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk CCG has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value of transactions
exceeded £250,000 are listed below:Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Colchester University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
East of England Ambulance NHS Trust
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust
Mid Essex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
North Essex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG
NHS England
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
Norfolk and Norwich University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local
government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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19. Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the Clinical Commissioning Group or
consolidated group.
20. Losses and special payments
20.1 Losses

The total number of NHS Clinical Commissioning Group losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:

Administrative write-offs
Fruitless payments
Store losses
Book Keeping Losses
Constructive loss
Cash losses
Claims abandoned
Total

Total
Number of
Cases
2014-15
Number
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total Value
of Cases
2014-15
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total Number
of Cases
2013-14
Number
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total Value
of Cases
2013-14
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0

0

Total
Number of
Cases
2014-15
Number
0
16
1
0
0
17

Total Value
of Cases
2014-15
£'000
0
29
0
0
0
29

Total Number
of Cases
2013-14
Number
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total Value
of Cases
2013-14
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0

20.2 Special payments

Compensation payments
Extra contractual Payments
Ex gratia payments
Extra statutory extra regulatory payments
Special severance payments
Total
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21. Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
NHS Act
Section Duty
223H(1) Expenditure not to exceed income
223I(2) Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
223I(3) Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in
223J(1) Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in
223J(2) Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
223J(3) Directions

2014-15
Maximum
£'000
290,941
343
280,823

2014-15
Performance
£'000
288,166
343
278,048

0

0

0
6,460

2014-15
Duty
Achieved?
Yes
Yes
Yes

2013-14
Maximum
£'000
282,385
0
273,346

2013-14
Performance
£'000
279,727
0
270,688

2013-14
Duty
Achieved?
Yes
n/a
Yes

n/a

0

0

n/a

0

n/a

0

0

n/a

5,304

Yes

5,920

5,208

Yes

The Clinical Commissioning Group achieved a surplus of £2,775k for the year ended 31 March 2015 (£2,658k 2013-14) - shown by line 223I(3) in the table above.
Note: For the purposes of Section 223H(1), expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expendiure on revenue and capital in the financial year, and income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum
revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis).

37

Published by NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
West Suffolk House, Western Way, Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk IP33 3YU
Telephone: 01284 758 010 Email: getinvolved@westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk
@NHSWSCCG

/nhswsccg

